EFFECTS OF POST-EXERCISE INFRARED SAUNA ON TRAINING ADAPTATIONS IN TEAM-SPORT ATHLETES

Tianyu Zhang

Master's Thesis in Exercise Physiology Faculty of Sport and Health Sciences University of Jyväskylä Spring 2023 (Supervisors: Heikki Kyröläinen & Essi Ahokas)

ABSTRACT

Zhang, T. 2023. Effects of post-exercise infrared sauna on training adaptations in team-sport athletes, University of Jyväskylä, Master's thesis, _50_ pp. _1_ appendix.

The aim of this study was to investigate the effects of post-exercise infrared sauna (IRS) on chronic training adaptations regarding physical performance, skeletal muscles, cardiovascular function, and haematological biomarkers in team-sport athletes.

23 female team-sport players were volunteered to participate and assigned to two groups to undertake a 6-week strength and power training programme with utilizing IRS recovery (IRS; n = 11) or without recovery implementation (CON; n = 12). The training program consisted of two or three complex resistance training sessions per week, with a 10-minute recovery period following each session. Before and after the 6-week training intervention, 20 m maximal sprint, maximal countermovement-jump, squat jump, and isometric leg press tests were performed to evaluate the adaptations in explosive physical performance. To assess the adaptations in skeletal muscle, body composition, cross-sectional area (CSA) and pennation angle of the vastus lateralis muscle were measured. Venous blood samples were collected pre and post-training intervention to analyse haematological parameters including red blood cells, haematocrit, and haemoglobin concentration.

Significant increases were found in isometric leg press performance, whole-body fat-free mass (FFM), leg FFM and CSA following 6-week strength and power training (P < 0.05). No significant effect of utilizing IRS (time*group) has been indicated in all variables compared to using passive recovery (P > 0.05). It concludes that IRS as a recovery strategy does not have a detrimental impact on adaptations to strength and power training in team sport athletes. Moreover, it could be considered a favourable recovery strategy when frequent and long-term utilization is required, as previous evidence has indicated the benefits of IRS in acute recovery.

Key words: infrared sauna, recovery, training adaptations, team sport

ABBREVIATIONS

ANS	autonomic nervous system
Aix _{aort}	aortic augmentation index
BV	blood volume
СК	creatin kinase
CMJ	countermovement jump
CSA	cross-sectional area
CV	coefficients of variation
CWI	cold water immersion
CWT	contrast water therapy
DOMS	delayed-onset muscle soreness
FFM	fat-free mass
FFM _{total}	whole body fat-free mass
FFM _{leg}	leg fat free mass
FIRs	far-infrared saunas
[Hb]	haemoglobin concentration
Hct	haematocrit
HR	heart rate
HR HR _{max}	heart rate maximal heart rate
HR HR _{max} HSPs	heart rate maximal heart rate heat shock proteins
HR HR _{max} HSPs ICC	heart rate maximal heart rate heat shock proteins intraclass correlation coefficient
HR HR _{max} HSPs ICC IR	heart rate maximal heart rate heat shock proteins intraclass correlation coefficient infrared radiations
HR HR _{max} HSPs ICC IR IRS	heart rate maximal heart rate heat shock proteins intraclass correlation coefficient infrared radiations infrared sauna
HR HR _{max} HSPs ICC IR IRS LP	heart rate maximal heart rate heat shock proteins intraclass correlation coefficient infrared radiations infrared sauna leg press
HR HR _{max} HSPs ICC IR IRS LP mTOR	heart rate maximal heart rate heat shock proteins intraclass correlation coefficient infrared radiations infrared sauna leg press mammalian target of rapamycin
HR HR _{max} HSPs ICC IR IRS LP mTOR PA	heart rate maximal heart rate heat shock proteins intraclass correlation coefficient infrared radiations infrared sauna leg press mammalian target of rapamycin pinnation angle
HR HR _{max} HSPs ICC IR IRS LP mTOR PA PV	heart rate maximal heart rate heat shock proteins intraclass correlation coefficient infrared radiations infrared sauna leg press mammalian target of rapamycin pinnation angle plasma volume
HR HR _{max} HSPs ICC IR IRS LP mTOR PA PV PWVao	heart rate maximal heart rate heat shock proteins intraclass correlation coefficient infrared radiations infrared sauna leg press mammalian target of rapamycin pinnation angle plasma volume aortic pulse wave velocity
HR HR _{max} HSPs ICC IR IRS LP mTOR PA PV PWVao RBC	heart rate maximal heart rate heat shock proteins intraclass correlation coefficient infrared radiations infrared sauna leg press mammalian target of rapamycin pinnation angle plasma volume aortic pulse wave velocity red blood cells
HR HR _{max} HSPs ICC IR IRS LP mTOR PA PV PWVao RBC RCV	heart rate maximal heart rate heat shock proteins intraclass correlation coefficient infrared radiations infrared sauna leg press mammalian target of rapamycin pinnation angle plasma volume aortic pulse wave velocity red blood cells red cell volume

SD	standard deviation
SJ	squat jump
VL	vastus lateralis
1 RM	one repetition maximum

CONTENTS

A	BST	RACT
1	INT	RODUCTION1
2	CH	ARACTERISTICS OF TEAM SPORTS
	2.1	Physical and physiological profiles during match play
	2.2	Physiological determinants and performance tests
3	AD.	APTATIONS TO TRAINING5
	3.1	Models explaining physiological effects of training stress
	3.2	Risk of overreaching/overtraining
4	REC	COVERY IN TEAM SPORT7
	4.1	Recovery monitoring7
	4.2	The use of recovery strategies9
	4.3	The effects of recovery strategies10
	4.4	Heat Interventions in sport
		4.4.1 Mechanisms of heat interventions
		4.4.2 Modalities of heat interventions
		4.4.3 Effects of heat interventions15
		4.4.4 Far-infrared sauna16
5	PU	RPOSE OF THE STUDY
6	ME	THOD
	6.1	Participants
	6.2	Study design
	6.3	Procedures
		6.3.1 Experimental trials
		6.3.2 Training program
		6.3.3 Recovery modalities

	6.4	Measurement
		6.4.1 Physical performance tests
		6.4.2 Ultrasound measurements
		6.4.3 Blood sample collection and analysis23
	6.5	Statistical analysis
7	RES	SULTS
	7.1	Physical performance25
	7.2	Muscle morphological characteristics
	7.3	Cardiovascular functions
	7.4	Haematological biomarkers
8	DIS	CUSSION
	8.1	Adaptations induced by 6-week strength and power training programme
	8.2	Influence of using IRS on exercise training programme
	8.3	Strengths and limitations
	8.4	Perspectives and significance
	8.5	Conclusion
9	REF	FERENCES
A	PPEI	NDIX

Appendix 1. Examples of training programme

1 INTRODUCTION

Team sports are popular worldwide with millions of participants. Athletes who compete in team sports require both good decision-making abilities under pressure and/or while fatigued and highly developed physical capacities due to the characteristics of the sports (Billaut et al. 2012; Bishop and Girard, 2013).

The utilization of recovery strategies is popular among team sports players (Crowther et al. 2017; Van Wyk and Lambert 2009), varies recovery strategies e.g., active recovery, massage, cold water therapy, contrast water therapy, sleep, and nutrition supplementation are used in team sport athletes daily training to avoid overreaching or overtraining and benefit training adaptations. Sleep and nutrition play central roles in both sports performance and recovery. By ensuring appropriate quality and quantity of sleep, coupled with adequate intake of nutrition, athletes can effectively obtain sufficient recovery from competitions and training. (Beck et al. 2022; Venter, 2012) For team sports athletes, sleep is critical for muscle protein accumulation, memory retention, and neural plasticity following exercise training which plays an essential role in acquiring training adaptations (Fullagar et al. 2015). Nevertheless, in cases where rigorous and demanding training schedules are implemented to speed up the process of gaining adaptations, it may be necessary to incorporate additional recovery strategies. Studies have evaluated the effectiveness of utilizing post-training cold water immersion (CWI) in team sports players, suggesting that implementation of CWI is beneficial for psychometric measures and does not have negative effects on players' physical performance (Elias et al. 2012; De Nardi et al. 2011). However, adverse effects of strength (Fröhlich et al. 2014) and muscle gains (Roberts et al. 2015) have been found in the studies that investigated the effects of CWI on long-term strength training adaptations. Similarly, acute intake of antioxidant supplements may bring benefits to physical performance for athletes while having detrimental effects on chronic muscle adaptations (Braakhuis and Hopkins 2015; Merry and Ristow 2016). Strategies that benefit athletes' recovery and do not interfere with chronic training adaptation should be further investigated.

Recently, there is an increasing interest in implementing heat intervention in sports settings to maximise the benefits of training in athletes (Bartolomé et al., 2021; Méline et al. 2021; Kirby et al. 2021; Perez-Quintero, 2021). Méline (2021) found that regular training with hot water baths maintains high performance in elite short-track speed skaters while inducing additional effects on maximal isometric strength and did not alter aerobic and anaerobic aptitudes and

field performance on the ice. Exposures to sauna bath following exercise training has been found to improve exercise performance (Kirby et al., 2021); increased total blood volume (Scoon et al., 2007) and plasma volume (Stanley et al., 2015); and altered body composition (Bartolomé et al. 2021). Compared with traditional saunas, far-infrared saunas (FIRs) which utilize infrared elements to radiate heat with a ~10 µm wavelength of approximate heat to 40-60 °C seem to offer a more relaxing and comfortable experience. Additionally, a more vigorous sweat is developed in users of FIRs than in their sweating responses to traditional saunas since infrared heat penetrates more deeply than warmed air. (Beever, 2009) Studies have examined the effectiveness of utilizing infrared radiations (IR) as recovery modalities, suggesting favourable effects on the recovery of neuromuscular performance and perceived sensation (Hausswirth et al. 2011; Mero et al. 2015; Noponen et al. 2015).

To optimize the effects of athletic training, it is important to understand the characteristics of the sport, adaptations to training, and the recovery strategies that have been proposed to boost training adaptations. The following sections will introduce and focus on athletic training and recovery strategies in team sports.

2 CHARACTERISTICS OF TEAM SPORTS

2.1 Physical and physiological profiles during match play

Team sports matches generally consist of repeated short, maximal, or near-maximal efforts, interspersed with recovery intervals including rest to low-intensity activity to moderate-intensity activity over an extended period of 1-2 h. Elite athletes are not only required to possess superior decision-making abilities under pressure and/or while fatigued but also highly developed physical capacities. Demands for these athletes are complex, consisting of power, speed, strength, repeated sprint ability, agility, and endurance. (Billaut et al. 2012; Bishop and Girard, 2013)

For example, during a soccer game, ~10 km distance is covered by an elite female field player. Around 1500 changes of activity occur during a match, with ~125 high-intensity (18 km·h⁻¹ - 25 km·h⁻¹) runs and ~ 26 sprints (≥ 25 km·h⁻¹ or backward running ≥ 10 km·h⁻¹) are performed. (Krustrup et al. 2005) For a high-level female basketball player, ~ 7 km total distance and ~ 1700 movements are performed during a game with ~ 300 runs (3.1-7.0 m·s⁻¹) and ~ 100 sprints (≥ 7.0 m·s⁻¹) among these movements (Scanlan et al. 2012). Physiological responses of team sports players have been investigated in studies, with an average heart rate (HR) of 80-90% maximal HR (HR_{max}) during competitive matches reported (Barbero-Alvarez et al. 2007; Krustrup et al. 2005; Lythe and Kilding 2011; Scanlan et al. 2011). These findings suggest that competing in team sports requires both anaerobic and aerobic capacities. Athletes should undergo comprehensive training that focuses on developing both aspects to achieve optimal results during competitions.

2.2 Physiological determinants and performance tests

Body composition, aerobic fitness, and anaerobic power could discriminate team sports players among different competitive levels and playing positions, athletes who compete at higher-level tend to be leaner with possessing better aerobic fitness and anaerobic power (Ferioli et al. 2018; Reilly et al. 2000; Ostojic et al. 2006; Slimani and Nikolaidis, 2017). According to Delextrat and Cohen (2008), elite basketball players performed significantly better (p < 0.05) in the vertical jump test (+8.8%), agility T test (+6.2%), 1RM bench press (+18.6%), and peak torques developed by the knee extensors (+20.2%) compared to average-level athletes, suggesting superior anaerobic power in elite athletes. In addition, the study by Ferioli et al. (2018) found that higher-level basketball players were able to perform the high-intensity intermittent exercise with lower blood lactate accumulation, lower blood hydrogen ion concentration, and higher bicarbonate concentration than relatively lower-level players, which suggests a better ability to sustain the high-intensity intermittent efforts in higher-level basketball players. It also suggests that higher-level players tend to be more powerful and have more strength, which was evidenced by higher jump heights, greater peak power output, and peak force during countermovement jumps (CMJ) (Ferioli et al. 2018). Similar findings were documented in soccer players, elite athletes present higher maximal isometric force, vertical jump height, agility, aerobic power, tolerance of fatigue, and lower sprint time than non-elite athletes (Gissis et al. 2005; Reilly et al. 2000). Rodríguez-Rosell et al. (2017) have also examined the validity and reliability of using jump tests including CMJ, Abalakov jump, and sport-specific jumps in team sports athletes. They found high intraclass correlation coefficients (0.969–0.995) and low coefficients of variation (1.54 - 4.82%) of implementing these tests and the results of these jump tests were associated with sprint performance and leg strength (Rodríguez-Rosell et al. 2017). Based on these findings, jump tests, sprint tests, and muscle strength measurements are suggested to evaluate team sports athletes' anaerobic performance.

3 ADAPTATIONS TO TRAINING

3.1 Models explaining physiological effects of training stress

There are several models, for example, the general adaptation syndrome model, the stimulusfatigue-recovery-adaptation model, and the fitness-fatigue model have been utilized to explain the physiological effects of an acute training stimulus.

In brief, the general adaptation syndrome model consists of four phases (alarm, resistance, supercompensation, overtraining) and proposes that the response to stress, which is considered a disruption of the body's homeostatic state is similar to all stressors. Supercompensation is experienced following the resistance phase and overtraining syndrome may be identified with too much stress and without adequate recovery. The stimulus-fatigue-recovery-adaptation model which includes five components (stimulus, fatigue, recovery, supercompensation, involution) suggests that the accumulation of fatigue in proportion to the magnitude and duration of a stimulus and supercompensation occurs following recovery from fatigue. The fitness-fatigue model proposes that fitness and fatigue occur concurrently and gains in fitness become apparent only when fatigue has dissipated. The cumulative effect of training load and fatigue, and recovery deficit explain responses to stress in this model. (McGuigan, 2017, 43-51; Turner, 2011) These models emphasize the importance of the recovery phase during exercise training to induce training adaptations and extensive fatigue should be avoided during the training.

3.2 Risk of overreaching/overtraining

Overreaching can be defined as a short-term reduction in performance capacity resulting from an accumulation of training and/or non-training stress, which may last for several days to several weeks. While overtraining refers to a long-term reduction in performance capacity due to stress accumulation and may last for several weeks or months. (Meeusen et al. 2013) With insufficient recovery following training stimulus, athletes may move along the fatigue continuum to a state where overreaching or overtraining occurs. Specifically, overreaching can be divided into functional overreaching and non-functional overreaching, which can be distinguished by the required time to recover as the former could be reversed with an adequate period of recovery of 1-3 weeks, and the latter requires more time ranging from 2 weeks to 6 months. (McGuigan, 2017, 51-64; Kreher and Schwartz, 2012) The overtraining syndrome represents the ultimate stage of the fatigue continuum and appears to be a maladapted response to excessive stress without sufficient recovery. This condition can disrupt various systems within the body, including the neurological, endocrinological, and immunological systems, as well as mood states. It is important to note that the consequences of overtraining extend beyond a decline in performance and can increase the risk of injuries and illnesses. (Angeli et al. 2004; McGuigan, 2017, 51-64; Kreher and Schwartz, 2012)

In short, exercise training should include adequate overload to induce adaptation but should also allow a sufficient recovery period from fatigue and prevent non-functional overreaching or overtraining that may lead to severe consequences. This suggests the importance of monitoring recovery during training and the potential benefits that may gain from the use of recovery strategies.

4 RECOVERY IN TEAM SPORT

4.1 **Recovery monitoring**

To ensure adequate recovery following exercise training to induce training adaptations, it is important to monitor fatigue/recovery status during training sessions. Several types of measurements consisting of performance tests, physiological parameters, and self-reported measures have been well-documented in studies for recovery monitoring.

The CMJ test which is simple and time-efficient has been widely adopted to monitor athletes' neuromuscular fatigue in team sports due to its robust reliability and validity (Coffey et al. 2020), with significant decreases in jump heights up to 72 h hours were reported following training or competitions (Coffey et al. 2020; Ramírez-López et al. 2020; Wiewelhove et al. 2015). However, it has been questioned due to its task-specific nature which may not be sensitive to assessing the fatigue generated by run-based training sessions or games that involves a lot of horizontal movements e.g., soccer (Buchheit et al. 2017), thence some studies suggested the utilization of running tests to measure neuromuscular fatigue in team sports players (Garrett et al. 2021; Leduc et al. 2019). In addition, a cycle-ergometer sprint test has also been proposed for neuromuscular fatigue monitoring as it examines the concentric component of force production decrement in muscle induced by fatigue that is likely to be overlooked by a CMJ test (Wehbe et al. 2015). Nevertheless, while these performance tests have been found to effectively assess neuromuscular fatigue in team sports athletes (Garrett et al. 2021; Wehbe et al. 2015; Wiewelhove et al. 2015), their implementation for the entire team can be laborious and pose a potential risk of injuries to players. Consequently, it becomes impractical to utilize them frequently during daily training sessions.

There are some biochemical markers such as creatine kinase (CK) (Buchheit et al. 2011; Coffey et al. 2020; Coutts et al. 2007; Wiewelhove et al. 2015), cortisol, and testosterone (Coutts et al. 2007; Elloumi et al. 2003; Nunes et al. 2014; Rowell et al. 2018) have been utilized to assess fatigue and recovery in team sports players. Among these biomarkers, CK is one of the most frequently used (Doeven et al. 2018) which increases following high-intensity interval training and decreases after 72 h of recovery period (Wiewelhove et al. 2015). However, according to Coffey et al. (2020), a high coefficient of variations at pre-exercise (25.6%) and 24 h following exercise (44.5%) were found in thirteen male college team sport athletes. In addition, the CK responses of soccer players to an in-season training camp were indicated to be varied based on training contents (P < 0.001), which fluctuated throughout a training camp with variations in

training modalities (Buchheit et al. 2011). These findings question using CK measurements to monitor the fatigue and recovery status in the training of team sports which usually involve varied training contents. Studies suggested that changes in training load did not provoke changes in hormone responses including testosterone and cortisol (Coutts et al. 2007; Nunes et al. 2014). This is evidenced by no significant differences found in testosterone concentration, cortisol concentration, and testosterone to cortisol ratio of rugby league players following normal training and intensified training that intended to be overreached (Coutts et al. 2007). Additionally, it is supported by the baseline measures of salivary testosterone and cortisol concentrations of elite female basketball players that were not influenced by a 12-week periodized training program (Nunes et al. 2014).

The activity of the autonomic nervous system (ANS) is sometimes monitored during regular team sports training as it has been shown to associate with training adaptability (Buchheit et al. 2011; Buchheit et al. 2013; Cipryan et al. 2007) and to some extent reflect the adequacy of recovery. According to Buchheit et al. (2012), among highly trained young soccer players, decreased HR during exercise or increased heart rate variability (HRV) was associated with improved performance in incremental running tests to estimate maximal cardiorespiratory function and individual changes in HR recovery were found moderately associated with sprint (r = 0.39) and repeated-sprint (r = -0.38) performance. In addition, exercise HR was also found highly correlated (r > 0.5-0.7) with changes in Yo-Yo Intermittent recovery test level 1 in response to either sea-level training or altitude training camp in soccer players (Buchheit et al. 2013). Similarly, Cipryan et al. (2007) tracked the activity of ANS in ice hockey players and concluded that the ANS activity was affected by training quality and could reflect athletes' changes in adaptability. These findings suggest that the efficacy of monitoring ANS activity to track performance adaptability in team sports athletes.

It is well-documented that some self-report subjective measurements e.g., Recovery-Stress Questionnaire for Sport (RESTQ-Sport) (Coutts and Rcaburn, 2008; di Fronso et al. 2013); the profile of mood state questionnaire (Buchheit, 2014) and perceived ratings of wellness (Buchheit et al. 2013; Gastin et al. 2013; Thorpe et al. 2016) are suitable for monitoring stress and fatigue induced by exercise training in team sports players. Studies that examined the effectiveness of utilizing RESTQ-Sport indicated that only a few of the subscales from the questionnaire reflected the training stress changes (Coutts and Rcaburn, 2008; di Fronso et al. 2013). It was shown that only scores of three subscales i.e., fatigue, general stress, and disturbed

breaks in semi-professional rugby players who completed normal training were different from the players that were administered intensified training with higher training loads than normal training (Coutts and Rcaburn, 2008). Additionally, it was found that twenty-eight amateur basketball players only recorded significantly different scores in fatigue and emotional stress in response to different training stress during the preseason and competition phases (di Fronso et al. 2013). These may suggest that the complete RESTQ-Sport questionnaire seems not to be necessary to be utilized to monitor players' training stress and fatigue level, more time-efficient measurements with fewer subscales might be more appropriate. For instance, indicators such as perceived fatigue, sleep quality, and delayed-onset muscle soreness (DOMS) have been observed to exhibit sensitive responses among elite soccer players in relation to variations in training load. These measures can be regarded as effective and practical tools for monitoring team sports, as they demonstrate a significant reduction (35-40%) in post-match compared to pre-match levels and a gradual increase during the subsequent recovery period. (Thorpe et al. 2016)

Based on the findings above, it suggests that performance tests such as CMJ tests, running tests, and cycle-ergometer sprint tests could be used for monitoring fatigue status on a routinely based rather than daily in team sports (for example, once a week). The use of biochemical markers for monitoring team sports athletes should be cautious as variations may occur in responses to different types of exercises that could be involved in their training programme. Monitoring ANS activity is promising to track the performance adaptability of these athletes. In addition, simple self-report measurements such as perceived fatigue, sleep quality, and DOMS seems to be effective in monitoring recovery status in the settings of team sports.

4.2 The use of recovery strategies

A mixed-method survey study conducted by Crowther et al. (2017) that investigated three hundred and thirty-one team sports athletes' perceptions and use of recovery strategies found that 57% of athletes from the study reported performing a recovery after competition and/or training. According to Van Wyk and Lambert (2009), among fifty-eight medical staff from elite rugby teams, 48% reported having been utilizing recovery strategies for 0-5 years. These suggest that recovery strategies are commonly used in team sports settings.

The common recovery modalities that are adopted by team sports players include active recovery, massage, cold water therapy, contrast water therapy, sleep, and nutrition

supplementation (Cross et al. 2019; Field et al. 2021; Van Wyk and Lambert, 2009; Venter 2014; Crowther et al. 2017). Studies suggest that the use of recovery strategies is affected by sports type (Cross et al. 2019; Venter et al. 2010) and competitive level (Crowther et al. 2017), which may be explained by the perceptions of recovery strategies (Crowther et al. 2017; Venter 2014). The study by Cross et al. (2019) found that the most frequently used strategy was CWI in 35 practitioners from professional collision (Australian rules football, rugby league, and rugby union) or non-collision (soccer) sports teams following match play while following training, the most frequently used strategy for collision teams was active recovery and for noncollision teams was the massage. In addition, according to Venter et al. (2010), active cooldown was ranked as the most frequently used post-match recovery strategy in hockey, netball, and soccer players while rugby players used rehydration most frequently. Regarding the players that compete at different levels, it was found by Crowther et al. (2017) that massage was the most frequently utilized recovery strategy among international-level team sport athletes, and the active-stretching was the most frequently used by other competition levels' (national, state, regional, and local) players. However, it is worth noting that the numbers of players competing at different levels were not evenly distributed in that study, therefore, it should be cautious to interpret the data from the study for some athletes (e.g., only 2% were international-level players which suggested a small sample size) (Crowther et al. 2017).

4.3 The effects of recovery strategies

The effects of recovery strategies may be varied based on different modalities as the potential mechanisms underlying seems to be varied. The following sections will introduce the potential mechanism briefly and the effects of three common recovery strategies (i.e., active recovery, cold water therapy, and contrast water therapy) that have been utilized in team sports.

Active recovery may involve continuous low-intensity exercise for a duration of around 10-20 min, which is a practical strategy to be implemented in team sports. The potential mechanism underlying active recovery is increasing the blood flow that elevates the removal of metabolic byproducts such as blood lactate (Calleja-González et al. 2016; Monedero and Donne, 2000; Nédélec et al. 2013; Taoutaou et al. 1995). However, Nédélec et al. (2013) argued that the faster lactate removal may not be the criterion utilized to examine the quality of recovery strategies as quicker removal of lactate does not necessarily induce better subsequent exercise performance. Studies found that even with an improved blood lactate removal induced by active recovery, the subsequent exercise performance was not enhanced (Weltman et al. 1979;

Ouergui et al. 2014). King and Duffield (2009) implemented four different recovery interventions (passive recovery, active recovery, CWI, contrast water therapy) following simulated team sport, intermittent-sprint exercise in ten trained netball players and found that active recovery even evoke greater muscle soreness 24 h post-exercise than the other recovery interventions and the exercise performance performed in the following day was maintained regardless of recovery strategies. While according to Rey et al. (2012), compared with passive recovery, the muscle contractile properties using tensiomyography and perceived muscle soreness did not differ after using active recovery in professional soccer players. These findings suggest that although active recovery is a practical strategy for team sports players and may be beneficial for metabolic byproducts removal, it may not be able to promote better recovery in subsequent performance and could provoke detrimental effects on perceived muscle soreness sometimes instead.

The physiology underpinning cold therapy is that under cold stress, it leads to a reduction in body (skin, core, tissue, and muscle) temperature (White and Wells, 2013) therefore causing vasoconstriction which is likely to decrease swelling and acute inflammation from muscle damage (Gregson et al. 2011). Additionally, decreased tissue temperature induced by cold therapy may reduce nerve conduction properties and decrease muscle spasms and pain. The hydrostatic effects specifically related to CWI may also benefit to improve metabolic waste removal. (Tavares et al. 2018) Numerous studies have examined the effectiveness of implementing post-match CWI in team sports, the benefits including but are not limited to promoting better physical performance restoration (Delextrat et al. 2012; Elias et al. 2013; Montgomery et al. 2008; Rowsell et al. 2011); improving perceptual measures (e.g., lower perceived fatigue and muscle soreness) (Ascensão et al. 2011; Delextrat et al. 2012; Elias et al. 2013; Pointon and Duffield, 2011; Rowsell et al. 2009; Rowsell et al. 2011); enhancing muscle contractile properties (Pointon and Duffield, 2011); and reducing muscle damage (Ascensão et al. 2011). There are some studies that evaluated the effectiveness of utilizing post-training CWI in team sports players, suggesting that implementation of CWI is beneficial for psychometric measures and does not have negative effects on players' physical performance (Elias et al. 2012; De Nardi et al. 2011). However, these studies only investigated the acute responses to CWI as a recovery strategy for short-term training (~1 week), the effects of CWI on long-term training adaptations in team sports remain unclear. Adverse effects of strength (Fröhlich et al. 2014) and muscle gains (Roberts et al. 2015) have been found in the studies that investigated the effects of CWI on long-term strength training adaptations. The blunt adaptations provoked by CWI may be explained by the attenuated acute changes in the satellite cell numbers and activity of kinase regulating muscle hypertrophy related to CWI (Roberts et al. 2015).

Contrast water therapy (CWT) that alternating hot-cold water has been proposed to generate a "pumping" action by alternating blood vessels' vasodilation and vasoconstriction in response to temperature change, thence increasing blood flow and improving the metabolic byproducts removal (King and Duffield, 2009). This is supported by the findings of Gill et al. (2006)'s study, that is when compared with passive recovery, CWT led to a significantly higher percentage of recovery after a rugby match after 84 h as assessed by interstitial creatine kinase activity (39.0% vs. 85.0%, p < 0.05). However, when compared with CWI, studies found that post-match and post-training CWT presented less effectiveness in restoring physical performance and psychometric measures in professional Australian footballers (Elias et al. 2012; Elias et al. 2013). The studies that investigated utilizing CWT on training adaptations in team sports athletes are limited, future studies should further investigate.

In summary, among the three common recovery strategies mentioned above, CWI seems to be the most effective one for recovery following a single exercise session. However, some evidence suggests that CWI might blunt some training adaptations such as strength and muscle size gain in response to strength training. Recently, there is a novel finding indicating that implementing heat stress following training sessions is beneficial for muscle strength improvements in elite athletes (Méline et al. 2021), which suggests the potential benefits of utilizing heat interventions in sports training.

4.4 Heat Interventions in sport

4.4.1 Mechanisms of heat interventions

The potential mechanisms of heat interventions may associate primarily with the effects of heat stress on the human body which is mostly mediated by the thermoregulatory control system. Figure 1 illustrates the human thermoregulatory control system schematically. Numerous core and peripheral receptors and nerves sense temperatures peripherally and throughout the body, which sends thermal information to some central integrators. Under heat stress, it is likely to trigger a thermal command signal to alter sweating and cutaneous vasodilatation when there are deviations between the regulated variable i.e., body temperature, and a reference variable e.g., set-point temperatures. (Sawka et al. 2011) Consequently, an increase in blood flow occurs due to cutaneous vasodilatation (Fiscus et al. 2005) that may enhance the removal of metabolic byproducts and speed up oxygen, nutrients, and hormones supply to fatigued muscles (Versey et al. 2013).



FIGURE 1. Scheme of human thermoregulation control system (Sawka et al. 2011).

Potential molecular mechanisms underlying the effects that attenuate muscle injury, performance decrements, and recovery improvement elicited by heat stress include heat shock proteins (HSPs), kinases in the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway, and genes associated with muscle hypertrophy/atrophy (McGorm et al. 2018). HSPs are produced by cells in response to exposure to stressful conditions. It is suggested that HSP plays a major role in immune regulation and cell protection during exercise and in the efficiency of regeneration and

reparation processes. During long-term training, HSP is involved in preconditioning and adaptation processes that might also be important for disease prevention and therapy. (Krüger, Reichel and Zeilinger 2019) Evidence was found that implementing heat interventions increases the level of HSPs in human skeletal muscles (Ogura et al. 2007; Touchberry et al. 2007). mTOR signalling plays an important role in regulating muscle group through increasing protein synthesis (Bodine 2005). Since heat stress also has been indicated to enhance mTOR signalling in human skeletal muscles following resistance exercise, it may suggest that post-exercise heat interventions could provide benefits on muscle hypertrophy (Kakigi et al. 2011).

4.4.2 Modalities of heat interventions

There are various modalities of heat interventions including the modalities that could heat up the whole body such as using heated environmental chambers, hot water immersion (HWI), and sauna; and the modalities that are typically utilized locally in the human body such as wearing heat/steam sheets and microwave diathermy (Figure 2, McGorm et al. 2018). The effects of heat treatment have been suggested to be not limited to one specific mode of heating, and a key factor that mediates the effects of heating is the muscle temperature as it affects the expression of HSPs in muscle (McGorm et al. 2018).

Heated environmental chambers have been utilized as the environmental conditions (i.e., temperature and relative humidity) can be well-controlled. Compared with other modalities, HWI may have additional benefits due to the effects of hydrostatic pressure which is likely to elevate cardiac output, increase muscle blood flow, and diffusion of metabolic by-products from muscle to the blood (Versey et al. 2013). Regarding saunas, traditional saunas usually utilize either wood stoves or 220-V heaters to heat the air to ~85 °C and then heat up the human body mainly via convection (Beever 2009). When implementing heat intervention in team sports, the costs and the accessibility of the equipment should be taken into consideration, with HWI and saunas seeming to be practical methods due to their relatively low costs and great accessibility.

TYPES OF HEAT THERAPY



FIGURE 2. Modalities of heat interventions (McGorm et al. 2018).

4.4.3 Effects of heat interventions

The general effects of implementing heat stress on skeletal muscles include smaller loss of muscle strength and jump power, greater range of motion, and decreased soreness and swelling (McGorm et al. 2018). In addition, there is an increasing interest in the research utilizing postexercise passive heating as heat acclimation strategies recently e.g., HWI (Zurawlew et al. 2016 & Zurawlew et al. 2018 & Zurawlew et al. 2019) and sauna exposure (Bartolomé et al., 2021; Kirby et al. 2021; Perez-Quintero, 2021; Scoon et al. 2007; Stanley et al. 2015). The general adaptation of heat acclimation strategies includes lowered body temperature, decreased cardiovascular strain, improved sweat rate, and enhanced aerobic performance (Périard et al., 2015). These effects may be influenced by various factors such as the intensity of heat stress i.e., temperature; the duration of exposure; the number of exposure sessions to heat stress, etc. For example, to induce heat acclimation, 30 min sauna (90-100 °C) for ten exposures is suggested (Bartolomé et al., 2021; Kirby et al. 2021; Perez-Quintero, 2021; Scoon et al. 2007; Stanley et al. 2015). However, this is unlikely applied in daily training sessions due to the time constraints and may lead to thermal discomfort during the intervention. Regarding the acute effects of utilizing heat stress on recovery, the study by Lee et al. (2012) found that whole-body hot water immersion (40 °C) and mist sauna following fatigue exercise-induced higher skin blood flow and oxygenated haemoglobin concentration compared to shower and no bathing conditions which suggests that whole-body water immersion and mist sauna are effective for recovery from muscle fatigue. However, according to Skorski et al. (2019), a greater decrease in swimming performance was indicated by implementing a sauna bath after an intense swimming training session than under a placebo condition. The effects of heat interventions on recovery may depend on the type of exercise performed and may be partially explained by placebo effects.

There are limited studies that investigated the effects of applying heat interventions as recovery strategies on chronic adaptations to training. The study by Méline et al. (2021) compared the effects of post-training hot baths ($40.3 \pm 0.6 \,^{\circ}$ C, 92% RH) and passive recovery for 20 min in elite short-track speed skaters. They found that utilizing hot baths following training improved the isometric strength of the knee extensor and flexor muscles and maintained 1.5-lap all-out exercise performance without altering the aerobic capacity during incremental peak power output test (Méline et al. 2021). These findings suggest that regular training with hot water baths maintains high performance in these elite athletes while at the same time inducing additional effects on maximal isometric strength and did not alter aerobic and anaerobic aptitudes and field performance on ice (Méline et al. 2021). More studies are needed to further examine the effects of post-exercise heat interventions on training adaptations.

4.4.4 Far-infrared sauna

Compared with traditional saunas, far-infrared radiation could radiate heat with a ~10 μ m wavelength approximately heat to 40-60 °C seems to offer a more relaxing and comfortable experience (Beever, 2009). A more vigorous sweat is developed in users of FIRs than in their sweating responses to traditional saunas since infrared heat penetrates more deeply (~3-4 cm into fat tissue and the neuromuscular system) than warmed air (a few millimetres) (Beever, 2009; Mero et al. 2015). The cardiovascular demand to maintain thermoregulatory homeostasis when implementing FIRs light, similar to that induced by walking at a moderate pace (Beever, 2009). Significant lower HR was observed by using FIRs (71 ± 7 bpm) than applying traditional sauna (92 ± 13 bpm) with similar temperatures (35–50 °C) for 30 min in physically active men, which is likely due to the higher relative humidity during traditional sauna (traditional sauna:

60–70% vs. FIRs: 25–35%) bath by throwing water on the hot rocks of the sauna heater (Mero et al. 2015).

Several studies have examined the effectiveness of utilizing IR as a recovery modality, suggesting favourable effects on the recovery of neuromuscular performance and perceived sensation (Hausswirth et al. 2011; Mero et al. 2015; Noponen et al. 2015). Mero et al. (2015) utilized FIRs under mild temperature (35-50 °C) and light humidity conditions (25-35%) for 30 min in ten healthy physically active males and found higher CMJ after FIRs $(0.34 \pm 0.09 \text{ m})$ than after passive recovery $(0.32 \pm 0.08 \text{ m})$ following 34–40 min maximal endurance training session, suggesting FIRs is beneficial for the recovery of neuromuscular system from maximal endurance exercise. Furthermore, the study by Noponen et al. (2015) indicated that applying IR (50 °C) for 40 min following five-day strength, power, and technique training in ten trained power athletes led to significantly greater peak power during the Wingate test (pre: $13.09 \pm$ 0.96; post: 13.46 \pm 0.84) which was also different from the peak power in the control group $(13.29 \pm 0.85, p \le 0.05)$. In addition, they also found a significant interaction effect between the IR and control condition in CMJ performance and a greater change in the testosterone/cortisol ratio in the IR condition than in the control condition (Noponen et al. 2015). These findings further support the beneficial effects of IR on neuromuscular performance recovery. According to Hausswirth et al. (2011), maximal muscle strength and perceived sensations in nine welltrained runners following muscle damage exercise were recovered within 24 h when implementing 30 min exposure to IR (4-14 µm, 45 °C) while the recovery was not attained by passive recovery strategy. Nevertheless, it took a shorter time (within an hour) to recover when using whole-body cryotherapy, suggesting a slower acute effect on post-exercise recovery of IR compared to whole-body cryotherapy (Hausswirth et al. 2011). Studies that examined the effects of IR on the cardiovascular system are scarce and mostly target clinical populations (Beever 2009). Theoretically, it could have some beneficial effects on the cardiovascular system such as increased plasma volume, decreased blood pressure, and reduced arterial stiffness which has been found by using traditional saunas (Hannuksela and Ellahham 2011; Laukkanen et al. 2018; Stanley et al. 2015). These should be further investigated in future research.

5 PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

To date, there is no available data assessing whether implementing post-exercise infrared sauna (IRS) is beneficial for training adaptations in team-sport athletes. As such the aim of this study is to examine the effects of post-exercise IRS on training adaptations regarding physical performance, skeletal muscles, and blood variables in team-sport athletes. The research questions and hypothesis are:

Question 1. Does post-exercise IRS exposure as a recovery strategy affect adaptations to 6week strength and power training on physical performance, such as 20 m sprint, isometric leg press, squat jump (SJ), CMJ in team sport athletes?

Hypothesis 1. Post-exercise IRS exposure does not impair or even benefit the training adaptations on on physical performance in team sport athletes.

Question 2. Does post-exercise IRS exposure as a recovery strategy affect adaptations to 6week strength and power training on muscles, such as muscle thickness, muscle cross-sectional areas, pennation angles in team sport athletes?

Hypothesis 2. Post-exercise IRS exposure does not impair or even benefit the training adaptations on muscles compared with the control group in team sport athletes.

Question 3. Does post-exercise IRS exposure affect haematological adaptations such as plasma volumes, blood pressure, and arterial stiffness to 6-week strength and power training in team sport athletes?

Hypothesis 3. Post-exercise IRS exposure does not impair or even improve haematological adaptations, for example, it may increase plasma volumes, reduce blood pressure, and decrease arterial stiffness in team sport athletes.

6 METHOD

6.1 Participants

The participants were 23 female team sports players who were competing in local teams or university teams and the characteristics of the players that participated in this study were presented in Table 1. Participants were assigned to two groups based on their age, physical performance, and sports: an infrared sauna group (IRS) and a control group (CON). Participants were informed about the study's purposes and test procedures before attending experimental sessions. Written informed consent was obtained and ethical approval was provided by the Ethics Committee of the University of Jyväskylä.

TABLE 1. Characteristics of participants in this study (mean \pm SD)

Group	Age(year)	Height(cm)	Body mass(kg)	Ν	Sports
Infrared Sauna	20+4	169±7	65.2±5.6	11	Basketball: n=7; Ice
Innaied Sauna	20-4				hockey: n=2; Futsal: n=2
Control	22±4	169±7	67.0±12.1	12	Basketball: n=7; Ice
					hockey: n=2; Futsal: n=3

6.2 Study design

A randomized controlled study design was utilized to determine the effects of the IRS exposure as a recovery strategy following strength and power training (Figure 3). Experimental trials were completed one week before (PRE) and after (POST) the 6-week strength and power training. Training sessions were implemented two or three times per week and each training session was followed by either a 10-min recovery in an IRS chamber (50 °C) or without any recovery protocol implemented. Physical performance tests, arteriography measurements, ultrasound measurements, and blood samples analysis were conducted during experimental



FIGURE 3. Schematic of study design.

trials and the temperature and humidity in the sauna chamber were monitored throughout the intervention.

6.3 Procedures

6.3.1 Experimental trials

Experimental trials were performed within 7 days prior to the training programme. A menstrual cycle questionnaire was completed by each participant and fluid intake was recorded 24 h prior to the first experimental trial. Three days of food diaries were completed during the week before the intervention and the last week of the intervention. All participants were instructed to not consume any alcohol, diuretics, or caffeine, and to refrain from any additional exercise 24 h prior to the experimental trials and on the day of experimental trials.

On the day of the experimental trials, participants were reported to the laboratory in the early morning (6:00-10:00) for the resting measurements which included anthropometric measurements, ultrasound measurements, arteriography measurements, and blood samples collection. Firstly, the height and weight of each participant were measured using a stadiometer and a digital platform scale (Seca, Hamburg, Germany), respectively. Body composition was measured by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA). After anthropometric measurements, the participant rested in a supine position for 10 minutes while the marking of the imaging position was conducted simultaneously. Ultrasound imaging was taken for approximately 20 min and the blood pressure, aortic pulse wave velocity (PWVao), and aortic augmentation index (Aix_{aort}) were measured by arteriography device (TensioMed Ltd., Budapest, Hungary) after the imaging. Blood samples were collected either prior to ultrasound imaging or immediately following the ultrasound measurements in a standardised biochemistry laboratory. Physical performance tests were performed in the afternoon (15:00–19:00) during the same day. A standardized warm-up, including a 5-min aerobic warm-up and 5 min dynamic stretching and activations, was performed before the tests. Participants conducted the tests in the following order: 1) 20 m sprint; 2) jump tests; 3) isometric leg press. The rest intervals between different exercise tests were at least 3 min.

6.3.2 Training program

Throughout the 6-week training period, participants completed a training diary (types, frequency, duration, session perceived exertion, the use of recovery strategies, possible days of injury and illness) and a menstrual diary (the dates of menstruation, the possible use of

hormonal contraception). Participants were instructed to avoid using other recovery strategies (foam rolling, massage, compression clothing, NSAIDs) apart from the one used in the study. In addition, a food diary at Meal Logger was completed for three days during the week before the start and the last week of the intervention. Participants were also instructed to keep consistent with their diet during the study period.

The training program aimed to improve strength and power. A standardized warm-up was performed at the beginning of each session (~10 min). The types of exercises were based on the physical demands of the sports that participants were involved in (Table 1). The majority of exercises were required to be performed with explosive power. Each session lasted for approximately 45-60 min and three sessions were performed per week. An example of the training programme was presented in Appendix 1.

6.3.3 Recovery modalities

Following each training session, the participants in the IRS group undertook a 10-min IRS for recovery, while the participants in the control group were free to leave.

For the IRS group, participants sat in the IRS chamber quietly for 10 min with wearing sports bras and shorts. Two chambers (the first one: VitaMy, Sentiotec GmbH, Vöcklabruck, Austria; the second one: Infrared Cabin, Spectrum Small, Harvia) were in different places and participants went to the nearest one to their training place. The room was heated up for about 10-20 min before participants entered and the temperature of the sauna chamber was set at 50 °C. The actual temperature and relative humidity of the chamber at the end of recovery (~10s) were recorded.

6.4 Measurement

6.4.1 Physical performance tests

Three 20 m sprints on an indoor track were performed by participants after the warm-up with wearing sports shoes. The length of the rest period was 3 min in between each sprint. Infrared timing gates (University of Jyväskylä) were used to assess time to 5 and 20 m running. Participants were started in a standing position and instructed to run as fast as they could with verbal encouragement.

Jump tests were performed in a force plate (Hurlabs, FP8, Tampere, Finland) with a 3-min break between different jump exercises. Participants started the CMJ tests from a standing position with hands on hips throughout the jump and then squat down followed by a maximal effort vertical jump immediately to jump as high as possible. For the SJ tests, participants started the jump in a squat position with knees bending in a position based on participants' own preference and then jump vertically as high as possible with hands on hips. Three maximal efforts (4 or 5 attempts were performed when the participant improved on the third attempt) for both CMJs and SJs were undertaken, and the highest value of jump height was the main outcome measured for analysis. Data were collected and analysed in (Hurlabs, Tampere, Finland) by using flight time to estimate jump height. The previous study has reported the reliability of the SJ test with an intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) of 0.97 and coefficients of variation (CV) of 3.3%, and the CMJ test with an ICC of 0.98 and CV of 2.8%, respectively (Markovic et al., 2004).

A leg extension dynamometer (University of Jyväskylä) was utilized to measure maximal isometric force. The contractile characteristics of the participants' isometric muscle force of bilateral leg extensors (hip, knee, and ankle extensors) were measured in a sitting position, with the knee angle 107°. A goniometer was used to determine the joint angles. During the maximal voluntary isometric contraction, the back chair was fixed to support the trunk and keep the predetermined angular position of the hip and knee with participants holding handles attached to the dynamometer. 3-5 attempts were made by each participant, and each contraction was sustained for approximately 3-5 s separated by 60 s intervals. The participants were instructed to exert maximal effort as quickly as possible. Strong verbal encouragement was given during the tests. Data were recorded and analysed using the monitor that was attached to the leg press device (University of Jyväskylä, Finland). The maximal isometric leg press was determined as the highest value of weights during each effort. The previous study has reported that the reliability of the testing protocol with CV ranges from 17.44% - 26.87% (Ivanovic´ and Dopsaj, 2013).

6.4.2 Ultrasound measurements

Morphological parameters were determined via images obtained from the diagnostic ultrasound system (Ultra ALOKA, Alpha 10, Zug, Switzerland). Participants were rested in a supine position comfortably with their vastus lateralis (VL) muscle of the right legs being imaged. At PRE, measuring tape and permanent markers were used to identify the midpoint between the greater trochanter and the superior aspects of the patella on the mid-sagittal plane of the thigh.

After marking, a polystyrene foam was placed under the participant's calves to slightly lift the thigh and a cuboid-shaped polystyrene foam was placed between the feet with a band to fix the position. A straight line parallel with the transverse axis of the thigh was extended from the midpoint that had been marked. The probe was placed above the line (transversally to the longitudinal axis of the thigh) which formed a 90 ° angle to the skin surface to gain the cross-sectional area (CSA) image. To obtain the pennation angle image, the probe was placed in parallel with the longitudinal axis of the thigh and vertically to the marked straight line as well as forming a 90° angle to the skin surface. The distance between the probe for the pennation angle (PA) image and the marked midpoint was recorded. A short line identifying the position of the probe when taking the images of PA was marked for future scanning (POST). Ultrasound images were analysed with ImageJ. The reliability of using ultrasound examination protocol to quantify the VL muscle was reported with an ICC of 0.87 in PA (Raj et al., 2012) and an ICC of 0.727 in CSA (Betz et al., 2021) previously.

6.4.3 Blood sample collection and analysis

Venous blood samples were collected from the antecubital veins via catheters. All blood samples were analysed within 1 hr of collection under standard laboratory conditions and analysis were performed in accordance with the manufacturer's specifications using routine laboratory procedures. An automated haematology analyser (Sysmex XP-300[™], Norderstedt, Germany) was used to perform a complete blood count analysis and the following parameters were analysed: red blood cells (RBC), haematocrit (Hct), and haemoglobin concentration ([Hb]). Changes in plasma volume (PV; %), red cell volume (RCV; %), and blood volume (BV; %) from PRE to POST were estimated by using the method proposed by Dill and Costill's (1974). Equations were as follows:

 $BV_{POST} = BV_{PRE} ([Hb_{PRE}] / [Hb_{POST}])$ $RCV_{POST} = BV_{POST} (Hct_{POST})$ $PV_{POST} = BV_{POST} - RCV_{POST}$ $\Delta BV (\%) = 100 (BV_{POST} - BV_{PRE}) / BV_{PRE}$ $\Delta RCV (\%) = 100 (CV_{POST} - RCV_{PRE}) / RCV_{PRE}$ $\Delta PV (\%) = 100 (PV_{POST} - PV_{PRE}) / PV_{PRE}$

6.5 Statistical analysis

Data in results were presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) and analysed using IBM SPSS version 28.0. The level of significance for all data was set up at p < 0.05. The normal distribution of the data was checked by the Shapiro-Wilk test. For data that were not normally distributed, including SJ and HR, an appropriate logarithmic transformation was performed to make the values normally distributed. Between-group and within-group changes of the measurements (i.e., sprint time, maximal leg press, countermovement jump height, cross-sectional area and pennation angle of VL, FFM, blood pressure, RBC, Hct, [Hb], arterial stiffness) following training programme were determined through a two-factor (time*group) repeated measures ANOVA. A Bonferroni correction was used as a post hoc test. Correlations between changes in variables were analysed by the Pearson correlation coefficient.

7 RESULTS

7.1 Physical performance

No significant effect of training was shown regarding physical performance variables apart from the isometric leg press. There were no significant changes in 20 m sprint time, CMJ height, and SJ height following the 6-week strength and power training in IRS and CON (P = 0.311-0.851) (Table 2). Increases in isometric leg press were found after 6-week training with IRS (9.3%, 29 ± 48 kg, 95% CI [-2, 61]) and training without recovery strategy implementation (12.5%, 39 ± 34 kg, 95% CI [17, 61]) (main effect time; F = 15.857, P < 0.001). However, no time*group effect was observed in the increases of isometric leg press (F = 0.038; P = 0.567). (Table 2, Figure 4).

TABLE 2. Comparison of the training adaptations following the 6-week training in physical performance, muscle morphological characteristics, cardiovascular function, and haematological variables between the infrared sauna group and control group (mean \pm SD)

Group		Infrared Sauna		Control				
	PRE	PRE POST Changes		PRE	POST	Changes		
Physical performance								
20m sprint (s)	3.51±0.13	3.53±0.13	0.02 ± 0.06	3.53±0.20	3.54±0.16	0.01 ± 0.10		
CMJ (cm)	26.4 ± 2.8	26.2 ± 2.5	-0.2±1.8	28.0 ± 5.0	27.4±4.5	-0.5 ± 1.9		
SJ (cm)	27.8 ± 3.9	28.9 ± 3.1	1.1 ± 5.5	30.1±6.5	28.8 ± 5.9	-1.3±3.5		
Leg Press (kg)	332±46	362±60*	29±48	347±92	386±89*	39±34		
]	Muscle morpho	ological chara	cteristics				
CSA (cm ²)	21.64±2.69	23.44±2.39*	1.80 ± 0.76	$22.38{\pm}1.85$	$23.47 \pm 2.08*$	$1.09{\pm}1.35$		
PA (°)	14.2±3.9	14.6 ± 2.8	0.3 ± 3.4	13.1±2.4	13.5±3.1	0.4 ± 3.9		
FFM _{total} (kg)	47.8 ± 4.1	$48.4 \pm 4.5^{*}$	0.6 ± 1.0	46.8 ± 6.9	47.4±6.8*	$0.6{\pm}1.5$		
FFM _{leg} (kg)	16.5 ± 1.9	$16.9 \pm 2.0*$	0.4 ± 0.5	16.4 ± 2.6	16.7±2.5*	0.3 ± 0.5		
		Cardiova	scular functio	ons				
SBP (mmHg)	110±6	108 ± 7	-2±5	$114\pm\!8$	111±9	-3±9		
DBP (mmHg)	61±9	58±7	-3±4	63±7	63±8	0±5		
HR _{rest} (bpm)	58±9	56±12	-1±9	58±11	53±9	-5±8		
Aix _{aort} (%)	18.8 ± 7.0	21.0±10.3	2.2±9.7	21.6±11.9	20.3±8.3	0.0 ± 8.1		
PWV _{ao} (m/s)	6.3±0.7	6.6 ± 0.7	0.3±0.6	6.3±0.6	6.0 ± 0.6	-0.2 ± 0.4		
Haematological variables								
RBC(million/mm ³)	4.51±0.38	4.57±0.27	0.06 ± 0.20	4.38 ± 0.38	4.34±0.31	-0.04 ± 0.20		
HGB (g/dl)	135±10	137±8	2±6	127 ± 10	126±11#	-1±4		
Hct (%)	40.6 ± 2.6	41.4±2.3	0.8 ± 1.7	38.6 ± 2.7	38.5±2.9#	-0.1±2.1		
PV (%)	N/A	N/A	0.85 ± 1.73	N/A	N/A	0.36 ± 2.05		

*P< 0.05 PRE vs. POST; # P < 0.05 IRS vs. CON, changes are absolute values.



FIGURE 4. Comparison of leg press performance between before and after the 6-week intervention; *P < 0.05 PRE vs. POST, x indicates the mean values, the line inside the box indicates the median values, and the error bars indicate the standard deviation.



FIGURE 5. Comparison of cross-sectional area of the vastus laterlis muscle between before and after the 6-week intervention; *P < 0.05 PRE vs. POST, x indicates the mean values, the line inside the box indicates the median values, and the error bars indicate the standard deviation.

7.2 Muscle morphological characteristics

The CSA of VL significantly increased in both IRS (8.6%, $1.80 \pm 0.76 \text{ cm}^2$, 95%CI [1.29, 2.31]) and CON (5.0%, $1.09 \pm 1.35 \text{ cm}^2$, 95%CI [0.23, 1.95]) following the 6-week training (main effect time; F = 38.781, P < 0.001) (Table 1, Figure 5). In addition, significant increases were found in whole body fat-free mass (FFM_{total}) from PRE to POST in IRS (1.1%, 0.6 ± 1.0 , 95%CI [-0.1,1.2]) and CON (1.4%, 0.6 ± 1.5 , 95%CI [-0.4, 1.6]) (main effect time; F = 4.728, P = 0.041). Similarly, the leg fat-free mass (FFM_{leg}) increased in both groups (IRS: 2.6%, 0.4 ± 0.5 kg, 95%CI [-0.4, 0.5]; CON: 2.2%, 0.3 ± 0.5 kg, 95%CI [-0.3, 0.5]) (main effect time; F = 13.257; P = 0.002) (Figure 6). However, no time*group effect was found in increases of CSA, FFM_{total}, and FFM_{leg} (P = 0.140-0.924). There was no significant change in PA from PRE to POST (P = 0.638) and no time*group effect was observed (F = 0.004, P = 0.949) (Table 1)



FIGURE 6. Comparison of whole body fat-free mass and fat-free mass in the leg between before and after the 6-week intervention; *P < 0.05 PRE vs. POST, x indicates the mean values, the line inside the box indicates the median values, and the error bars indicate the standard deviation.

In IRS, a modest correlation (r = 0.644, P = 0.033) was found between the relative changes in CSA (Δ CSA) and the relative changes in SJ height (Δ SJ) after the 6-week training (Figure 7a) while no significant correlation was observed in CON (P = 0.331) (Figure 7b). In CON, a modest correlation (r = 0.617, P = 0.033) was observed between Δ CSA and the relative changes in the maximal isometric leg press (Δ LP) while Δ CSA was not significantly correlated with Δ LP in IRS (P = 0.183) (Figure 7c; Figure 7d).



FIGURE 7. Correlations between relative changes in squat jump height, isometric leg press, and relative changes of cross-sectional area; a) correlations between relative changes in squat jump height and relative changes of cross-sectional area in IRS; b) correlations between relative changes in squat jump height and relative changes of cross-sectional area in CON; c) correlations between relative changes in isometric leg press and relative changes of cross-sectional area in IRS; d) correlations between relative changes in isometric leg press and relative changes and relative changes of cross-sectional area in IRS; d) correlations between relative changes in isometric leg press and relative changes of cross-sectional area in CON.

7.3 Cardiovascular functions

There were no significant differences reported in variables relate to cardiovascular functions including SBP, DBP, HR_{rest} , Aix_{aort} , and PWV_{ao} following the 6-week training (P = 0.084-0.591), and no time*group effect was found in these variables (P = 0.052-0.680; Table 2).

7.4 Haematological biomarkers

No statistically significant changes were found in haematological variables for both groups from PRE to POST, including RBC, HGB, and Hct (P = 0.379-0.834). Additionally, no time*group effect was reported in RBC, HGB, and Hct (P = 0.229-0.335) There were no

significant between-group differences for the baseline measures of these haematological variables (P = 0.056-0.449). However, significant differences were reported between IRS and CON in some post-training haematological biomarkers, for measures of: HGB_{post} (P = 0.014) and Hct_{post} (P = 0.011). HGB_{post} and Hct_{post} were significantly higher in IRS than in CON. PV increased in both groups following the 6-week training (IRS: 0.85 ± 1.73 L; CON: 0.36 ± 2.05 L), however, the increases were not different between groups (P = 0.544). (Table 2)

8 **DISCUSSION**

The present study investigated the effects of using post-exercise IRS exposure on training adaptations in team-sport athletes. The present study showed that 6-week strength and power training improved isometric leg press performance, induced muscle hypertrophy, and increased fat-free mass in team sport athletes. In addition, implementing 10-min IRS three times a week following exercise sessions during the 6-week training had no detrimental effects on training adaptations regarding physical performance, muscle morphological characteristics, cardiovascular functions, and haematological variables compared to using passive recovery. Since previous evidence has shown that IRS provides benefits on acute recovery (Ahokas et al. 2023), it suggests that IRS may be considered as a favourable recovery strategy that can be implemented for long-term exercise training while does not diminish the training adaptations.

8.1 Adaptations induced by 6-week strength and power training programme

In the present study, no significant changes were reported in physical performance indicators following the 6-week strength and power training except for the isometric leg press. This is likely due to the relatively short duration of the training program (i.e., 6 weeks) as at least 7week strength and power training have been found to induce enhancement in physical performance in adults team sports players previously (Brito et al. 2014; Faude et al. 2013; Ronnestad et al. 2008). In addition, the results may be affected by the variability of the testing protocols as the CV of SJ, CMJ, and isometric leg press tests were reported as 3.3%, 2.8%, and 17.44% - 26.87%, respectively (Ivanovic' and Dopsaj 2013; Markovic et al. 2004). While in this study, the relative changes in SJ height were found as $1.6 \pm 9.7\%$ in IRS and $-1.8 \pm 12.1\%$ in CON, and CMJ height was observed as $2.7 \pm 6.7\%$ in IRS and $-0.4 \pm -7.3\%$ in CON which suggest that the changes in physical performance indicators may be too trivial to be detected by the current testing protocols. It is worth noting that even though a $12.5 \pm 11.3\%$ increase in isometric leg press was indicated, the changes should be interpreted with caution due to the large variability of the testing protocol and a high standard deviation of the results. Furthermore, the alterations of LP varied between individuals. The variation between testing subjects may be due to the varied familiarization of participants to conduct the tests, the training status, the previous training experience, etc.

Significant increases in CSA of VL and in FFM_{leg} were found in both IRS and CON, suggesting hypertrophic adaptations occur in the lower limbs in response to the 6-week training programme. An 8.6 ± 4.2 % increase in the CSA of VL was reported in IRS and a 5.0 ± 6.6 % increase was reported in CON in the present study. While greater extend of increases in the CSA of VL were found in a previous study with a 16.7 ± 12.7 % increase following 7-week traditional strength training and 23.4 \pm 17.9 % increase following inter-repetition rest strength training in men (Scott et al. 2021). Similarly, a ~18.7% increase was observed following an 8-week strength training in sixteen men (Sterczala et al. 2019). This is likely due to the gender differences regarding hypertrophic responses of skeletal muscle in response to resistance training (Martel et al. 2006; Rissanen et al. 2021) as the participants recruited in this study were female athletes. In consistency with previous findings, no significant changes were observed in the PA of VL in the present study following 6-week strength and power training in team sports athletes (Scott et al. 2021). Various factors including targeted muscles, the range of motion/joint position during the intervention, the type and velocity of contractions, and the training mode have an impact on the extent of the alterations of muscle architecture (Timmins et al. 2016). According to the results, the training programme in the present study involved a complex training model that consisted of 3-4 dynamic resistance exercises and 1-2 plyometric exercises per training session (Appendix 1) may be considered an effective training mode to induce muscle hypertrophy, enhance muscle strength, and have the potential to induce improvement in other physical performance with longer duration since positive correlations have been indicated between Δ CSA and Δ SJ in IRS.

8.2 Influence of using IRS on exercise training programme

In consistency with the findings from the previous study that utilized post-exercise hot-water therapy on adaptations to 4-week training (Méline et al. 2021), in this study, utilizing heat therapy (IRS) following exercise training had no significant effects on the performance of jump tests including CMJ and SJ tests. Interestingly, additional benefits were shown on leg isometric strength while no effects on the body composition and predicted leg CSA of using hot-water immersion were found by Méline et al. No effects of using IRS were observed in increases in isometric leg press, CSA of VL, FFM_{total}, and FFM_{leg} compared to passive recovery in the present study. The effects of heat therapy on muscle hypertrophy and function are inconsistent in previous studies (Fuchs et al. 2020; Kim et al. 2020; Stadnyk et al. 2018). According to Kim et al. 2020, 8-week local heat therapy (90min, 5 days/wk, thigh) enhanced muscle strength of the knee extensors. However, the studies by Stadnyk et al. (2018) suggested that supplemental heating of muscle during and after resistance training did not provide additional benefits on training-induced hypertrophy or function, since no significant differences were observed in the changes of quadricep's lean mass and peak isokinetic torque following 12-week resistance

training between the intervention group (thigh heating, during and 20 min after each training session) and the control group. This is further supported by the study of Fuchs et al. (2020) which investigated the acute responses of protein synthesis during hot water immersion following resistance training and found that myofibrilla protein synthesis rates remained unchanged by local hot-water immersion (legs) compared to the control group after a single session of resistance training. These findings may suggest that the effects of heat therapy may be influenced by the duration and exposure area of heat therapy implementation. Long duration, and large exposure area (e.g., whole body) may be required to induce benefits on muscle hypertrophy and function to enhance physical performance.

Previous studies have also investigated the acute effects of using heat therapy on recovery of physical performance (Mero et al. 2015; Pournot et al. 2010; Vaile et al. 2007; Viitasalo et al. 1995). No differences were observed in the isometric bench press, isometric leg press, and CMJ between the group using IRS as a recovery strategy (30 min; 35-50°C) and the control group using the passive recovery following a strength training session in the previous study by Mero et al. (2015), which are in support of our findings that implementing IRS following strength and power training does not have additional effects on physical performance. While higher CMJ height was found after using IRS following endurance training sessions than using passive recovery in the same study (Mero et al. 2015), suggesting IRS may be a favourable recovery strategy for the neuromuscular system after maximal endurance training. According to Pournot et al. (2010), lower body temperate water immersion (15 min; 36°C) did not enhance the recovery of physical performance including maximal isometric voluntary contraction, maximal 30-s rowing test and CMJ after exhaustive intermittent (20 min) exercise. However, the study carried out by Vaile et al. (2007) found that hot water immersion (14 min; 38°C) improved recovery in isometric force following DOMS-inducing exercise which involved maximal strength training (5 *10 eccentric bi-lateral leg press contractions with a load of 120% of 1-RM followed by 2*10 at a load of 100% 1-RM) compared to passive recovery while had no effect on SJ. These findings may suggest that the acute effects of using heat therapy may be determined by the type of exercise that was performed prior to the recovery, implementing IRS seems not to be effective for performance recovery following strength training that did not use maximal strength as workload and exhaustive intermittent exercise.

In the present study, no group*time effect was indicated in the variables related to cardiovascular functions including SBP, DBP, HR_{rest}, Aix_{aort}, and PWV_{ao} following 6-week

strength and power training using either IRS recovery or without recovery implementation. This suggests that using 10 min IRS exposure following exercise training does not provide additional benefits in cardiovascular functions. The long-term heat interventions that presented beneficial effects on arterial stiffness and blood pressure from previous studies involved a long duration of heat exposure per session (45-60 min) (Brunt et al. 2016; Gryka et al. 2020; Pokora et al. 2021). A significant decrease was found in resting SBP (from 138 \pm 19 mmHg to 126 \pm 6 mmHg) following 10 sauna exposures (90 \pm 2 °C) in elite cross-country skiers (Pokora et al. 2021). The study by Brunt et al. (2016) indicated that 8 weeks of repeated hot water immersion (45°C, 60 min) could enhance cardiovascular health since flow-mediated dilatation, superficial femoral dynamic arterial compliance were increased, and aortic pulse wave velocity (from 7.1 \pm 0.3 m/s to 6.1 \pm 0.3m/s), carotid intima media thickness, and mean arterial blood pressure (from 83 \pm 1 mmHg to 78 \pm 2 mmHg) were decreased following the 8-week therapy in sedentary people. The improvements in arterial stiffness and hemodynamic are likely due to the increase in nitric oxide production induced by heat therapy which may result in improved vascular relaxation and blood flow (Gryka et al. 2020).

The acute effects of using short-duration heat therapy on arterial stiffness and haemodynamic have also been investigated previously (Podstawski et al. 2020; Sugawara et al. 2021). According to Podstawski et al. (2020), 10-min sauna exposure (90-91°C; humidity: 14-16%) and following 20-min rowing ergometer training significantly decreased blood pressure in former elite athletes with hypertension (from $145.2 \pm 3.5 / 95.4 \pm 3.3$ mmHg to $135.6 \pm 3.9 / 84.3 \pm 3.5$ mmHg). In addition, decreases were found in brachial diastolic blood pressure (from 69 ± 7 mmHg to 67 ± 6 mmHg) and heart rate (from 55 ± 5 mmHg to 53 ± 6 mmHg) by 5-min hot water exposure in healthy males (Sugawara et al. 2021). 5-min hot water exposure was also indicated to decrease aortic and leg PWV by 7.5 and 3.1%, increase femoral arterial blood flow by 45.9% and reduce leg vascular resistance by 29.1% (Sugawara et al. 2021). Combining the findings from previous studies and the findings from the present study, implementing short-term (~5-10 min) heat therapy may induce acute effects on arterial stiffness and hemodynamic. However, these effects may not be able to be transferred to long-term adaptations to offer benefits in cardiovascular functions.

No significant effects were identified in haematological variables by using IRS compared to passive recovery in the present study. Increases in HGB and Hct induced by training or group effect may suggest a better ability for oxygen utilization for athletes thence benefit their aerobic

capacity. In this study, significant differences were shown in HGB_{post} and Hct_{post} between groups. Higher HGB_{post} (IRS: 137 ± 8 g/dl; CON: 126 ± 11 g/dl) and Hct_{post} (IRS: 41.4 ± 2.3 %; CON: 38.5 ± 2.9 %) were found in IRS compared to CON while the baseline measurements of HGB and CON were not found statistically different between groups. This suggests that some other interaction factors apart from training and recovery type may have an impact on the HGB and Hct which should be further investigated. Compared to previous studies, only trivial increases with large standard deviations were found in estimated plasma volume changes (IRS: $0.85 \pm 1.73\%$; CON: $0.36 \pm 2.05\%$) in the present study. A large increase in plasma volume was observed in Stanley et al.'s study (2015), with plasma volume increasing 17.8% after 4 days post-exercise sauna bathing (87.0 ± 13.7 °C, 30 min). Additionally, a moderate increase in plasma volume (7.1%) was reported by Scoon et al. (2007) following 3-week intermittent post-exercise sauna exposures (89.9 \pm 2.0 °C; 30 min). This may be explained by the short duration of sauna exposure in the present study i.e., only 10 min, and the inconsistency of the method to estimate plasma volume changes in this study to other studies (Stanley et al. 2015; Scoon et al. 2007). This suggests that to induce meaningful and significant changes in haematological variables, a long duration (≥ 30 min) of heat exposure may be required. However, the participants in the present study were reported as frequent sauna users which suggests they may be acclimated to heat exposure. While the information regarding sauna uses or heat exposure was unclear in the other sauna studies (Stanley et al. 2015; Scoon et al. 2007), whether the acclimation/acclimatization status has an impact on the adaptations should be further investigated.

8.3 Strengths and limitations

One notable strength of the current study is its incorporation of comprehensive measurements encompassing diverse aspects such as physical performance, muscle morphological characteristics, cardiovascular functions, and haematological biomarkers. This inclusive approach enables a thorough assessment of the adaptations resulting from the implemented training program, as well as an evaluation of the effects of utilizing IRS as a recovery strategy on these adaptations. In addition, these measurements were well-controlled to minimize errors. For example, the position of the ultrasound probe when taking images of the PA was marked to ensure consistent probe placements for each participant from PRE to POST which mitigate the measurement errors.

Nonetheless, it is important to acknowledge the limitations of this study, as they may have compromised the validity of the results. For instance, the consistency of the temperature in the sauna chamber was affected by heat transfer in the chamber, resulting in fluctuations even though the initial temperature was uniformly set at 50 °C for all participants. Observations during the intervention indicated that the recorded temperature was consistently lower than 50 °C, potentially leading to an underestimation of the effects attributed to the proposed IRS strategy. Additionally, there were instances of missing data in the measurements, introducing a greater variation in the results and potentially interfering with their interpretation. These limitations may partly account for the lack of significant effects observed when utilizing IRS as a recovery strategy for chronic adaptations to exercise training.

8.4 Perspectives and significance

Limited data have identified the effects of utilizing heating as recovery interventions (Chaillou et al. 2022), the findings of the present study added to the knowledge of utilizing heating as recovery strategies for chronic training adaptations in trained athletes. The results of the present study suggest that implementing IRS as a recovery strategy following strength and power training does not diminish the chronic training adaptations in team-sport athletes. Additionally, the results from our previous study showed that utilizing a single IRS following exercise training attenuated the decrease in explosive performance and reduced subjective muscle soreness following resistance training in basketball players (Ahokas et al. 2023). Altogether, it may suggest that IRS could be a favourable recovery strategy for team-sport players to improve their readiness for routine strength and power training without detrimental effects on chronic training adaptations. Compared to post-exercise cooling which could enhance neuromuscular recovery following a single resistance exercise session (Roberts et al. 2014) while impairing strength and muscle gains through long-term strength training (Fröhlich et al. 2014; Roberts et al. 2015), the findings from the present study suggest that post-exercise heating may be considered as a favourable recovery strategy when frequent and long-term use is required.

However, as no additional benefits resulting from utilizing the post-exercise IRS on the chronic adaptations have been shown in the present study, whether this should be put into the application is debatable due to limited resources and time. Future studies should investigate the most effective way for implementing IRS as a recovery strategy to induce additional beneficial effects (e.g., increase the exposure time, use after other types of exercise, etc.). In addition, the participants recruited in the present study were all female athletes while the previous study from

our group that investigated the acute effects of using a single IRS were males (Ahokas et al. 2023). Whether there are differences between the effects of employing IRS in men and women should be further investigated.

8.5 Conclusion

Post-exercise IRS has no detrimental effect on chronic training adaptations regarding explosive physical performance, muscle morphological characteristics, cardiovascular functions, and haematological variables following 6-week strength and power training. IRS may be considered a favourable recovery method when frequent and long-term use is required, as previous evidence has indicated the benefits of IRS in acute recovery. Future studies should investigate the optimal options of employing the IRS to induce additional benefits and the potential gender effects of utilizing the IRS on recovery.

9 REFERENCES

- Ahokas, E. K., Ihalainen, J., Hanstock, H. G., Savolainen, E., & Kyröläinen, H. (2022). A postexercise infrared sauna session improves recovery of neuromuscular performance and muscle soreness after resistance exercise training. Biology of Sport, 40(3), 681-689. doi:10.5114/biolsport.2023.119289.
- Ascensão, A., Leite, M., Rebelo, A. N., Magalhäes, S., & Magalhäes, J. (2011). Effects of cold water immersion on the recovery of physical performance and muscle damage following a one-off soccer match. Journal of Sports Sciences, 29(3), 217-225. doi:10.1080/02640414.2010.526132.
- Angeli, A., Minetto, M., Dovio, A., & Paccotti, P. (2004). The overtraining syndrome in athletes:
 A stress-related disorder. Journal of Endocrinological Investigation, 27(6), 603-612.
 doi:10.1007/BF03347487.
- Barbero-Alvarez, J. C., Soto, V. M., Barbero-Alvarez, V., & Granda-Vera, J. (2008). Match analysis and heart rate of futsal players during competition. Journal of Sports Sciences, 26(1), 63-73. doi:10.1080/02640410701287289.
- Bartolomé, I., Siquier-Coll, J., Pérez-Quintero, M., Robles-Gil, M. C., Grijota, F. J., Muñoz, D., & Maynar-Mariño, M. (2021). 3-week passive acclimation to extreme environmental heat (100 ± 3 °C) in dry sauna increases physical and physiological performance among young semi-professional football players. Journal of Thermal Biology, 100, 103048-103048. doi:10.1016/j.jtherbio.2021.103048.
- Beck, K. L., Thomson, J. S., Swift, R. J., & Von Hurst, P. R. (2015). Role of nutrition in performance enhancement and postexercise recovery. Open access journal of sports medicine, 259-267. doi:10.2147/OAJSM.S33605.
- Beever, R. (2009). Far-infrared saunas for treatment of cardiovascular risk factors summary of published evidence. Canadian Family Physician, 55(7), 691-696.
- Betz, T. M., Wehrstein, M., Preisner, F., Bendszus, M., & Friedmann-Bette, B. (2021). Reliability and validity of a standardized ultrasound examination protocol to quantify vastus lateralis muscle. Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine, 53(7). Doi: 10.2340/16501977-2854.
- Billaut, F., Gore, C. J., & Aughey, R. J. (2012). Enhancing team-sport athlete performance: Is altitude training relevant? Sports Medicine (Auckland), 42(9), 751-767. doi:10.1007/BF03262293.

- Bishop, D. J., & Girard, O. (2013). Determinants of team-sport performance: Implications for altitude training by team-sport athletes. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 47(Suppl 1), i17-i21. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2013-092950.
- Braakhuis, A. J., & Hopkins, W. G. (2015). Impact of Dietary Antioxidants on Sport Performance: A Review. Sports Medicine (Auckland), 45(7), 939–955. doi:10.1007/s40279-015-0323-x.
- Brito, J., Vasconcellos, F., Oliveira, J., Krustrup, P., & Rebelo, A. (2014). Short-term performance effects of three different low-volume strength-training programmes in college male soccer players. Journal of Human Kinetics, 40(1), 121–128. doi:10.2478/hukin-2014-0014.
- Brunt, V. E., Howard, M. J., Francisco, M. A., Ely, B. R., & Minson, C. T. (2016). Passive heat therapy improves endothelial function, arterial stiffness and blood pressure in sedentary humans. The Journal of physiology, 594(18), 5329-5342. doi:10.1113/JP272453.
- Buchheit, M. (2015). Sensitivity of monthly heart rate and psychometric measures for monitoring physical performance in highly trained young handball players. International journal of sports medicine, 36(05), 351-356. doi:10.1055/s-0034-1385882.
- Buchheit, M., Lacome, M., Cholley, Y., & Simpson, B. M. (2018). Neuromuscular responses to conditioned soccer sessions assessed via GPS-embedded accelerometers: Insights into tactical periodization. International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance, 13(5), 1-583. doi:10.1123/ijspp.2017-0045.
- Buchheit, M., Racinais, S., Bilsborough, J. C., Bourdon, P. C., Voss, S. C., Hocking, J., Cordy, J., Mendez-Villanueva, A., & Coutts, A. J. (2012;2013;). Monitoring fitness, fatigue and running performance during a pre-season training camp in elite football players. Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport, 16(6), 550-555. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2012.12.003.
- Buchheit, M., Simpson, B. M., Garvican-Lewis, L. A., Hammond, K., Kley, M., Schmidt, W.
 F., Aughey, R. J., Soria, R., Sargent, C., Roach, G. D., Claros, J. C. J., Wachsmuth, N.,
 Gore, C. J., & Bourdon, P. C. (2013). Wellness, fatigue and physical performance acclimatisation to a 2-week soccer camp at 3600 m (ISA3600). British Journal of Sports Medicine, 47(Suppl 1), i100-i106. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2013-092749.
- Buchheit, M., Simpson, M. B., Al Haddad, H., Bourdon, P. C., & Mendez-Villanueva, A. (2011;2012;). Monitoring changes in physical performance with heart rate measures in young soccer players. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 112(2), 711-723. doi:10.1007/s00421-011-2014-0.

- Buchheit, M., Simpson, B. M., Schmidt, W. F., Aughey, R. J., Soria, R., Hunt, R. A., Garvican-Lewis, L. A., Pyne, D. B., Gore, C. J., & Bourdon, P. C. (2013). Predicting sickness during a 2-week soccer camp at 3600 m (ISA3600). British Journal of Sports Medicine, 47(Suppl 1), i124-i127. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2013-092757.
- Buchheit, M., Voss, S. C., Nybo, L., Mohr, M., & Racinais, S. (2011). Physiological and performance adaptations to an in-season soccer camp in the heat: Associations with heart rate and heart rate variability. Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports, 21(6), e477-e485. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0838.2011.01378.x.
- Calleja-González, J., Terrados, N., Mielgo-Ayuso, J., Delextrat, A., Jukic, I., Vaquera, A., Torres, L., Schelling, X., Stojanovic, M., & Ostojic, S. M. (2016). Evidence-based postexercise recovery strategies in basketball. The Physician and Sportsmedicine, 44(1), 74-78. doi:10.1080/00913847.2016.1102033.
- Chaillou, T., Treigyte, V., Mosely, S., Brazaitis, M., Venckunas, T., & Cheng, A. J. (2022). Functional Impact of Post-exercise Cooling and Heating on Recovery and Training Adaptations: Application to Resistance, Endurance, and Sprint Exercise. Sports medicine-open, 8(1), 37. doi:10.1186/s40798-022-00428-9.
- Christiansen, D., Bishop, D. J., Broatch, J. R., Bangsbo, J., McKenna, M. J., & Murphy, R. M. (2018). Cold-water immersion after training sessions: effects on fiber type-specific adaptations in muscle K+ transport proteins to sprint-interval training in men. Journal of applied physiology, 125(2), 429-444. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00259.2018.
- Cipryan, L., Stejskal, P., Bartáková, O., Botek, M., Cipryanová, H., Jakubec, A., ... & Rehová,
 I. (2007). Autonomic nervous system observation through to use of spectral analysis of
 heart rate variability in ice hockey players. Acta Universitatis Palackianae Olomucensis.
 Gymnica, 37(4).
- Coffey, K., McCollum, R., Smyth, E., Casey, E., Plunkett, J., & Horner, K. (2020). Reproducibility of Objective and Subjective Markers of Exercise Recovery in College Aged Males. International Journal of Exercise Science, 13(4), 1041.
- Coutts, A. J., Reaburn, P., Piva, T. J., & Rowsell, G. J. (2007). Monitoring for overreaching in rugby league players. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 99(3), 313-324. doi:10.1007/s00421-006-0345-z.
- Coutts, A. J., & Reaburn, P. (2008). Monitoring changes in rugby league players' perceived stress and recovery during intensified training. Perceptual and Motor Skills, 106(3), 904-916. doi:10.2466/pms.106.3.904-916.

- Cross, R., Siegler, J., Marshall, P., & Lovell, R. (2019). Scheduling of training and recovery during the in-season weekly micro-cycle: Insights from team sport practitioners. European Journal of Sport Science, 19(10), 1287-1296. doi:10.1080/17461391.2019.1595740.
- Crowther, F., Sealey, R., Crowe, M., Edwards, A., & Halson, S. (2017). Team sport athletes' perceptions and use of recovery strategies: A mixed-methods survey study. BMC Sports Science, Medicine & Rehabilitation, 9(1), 6-6. doi:10.1186/s13102-017-0071-3.
- Delextrat, A., & Cohen, D. (2008). Physiological testing of basketball players: Toward a standard evaluation of anaerobic fitness. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 22(4), 1066-1072. doi:10.1519/JSC.0b013e3181739d9b.
- De Nardi, M., La Torre, A., Barassi, A., Ricci, C., & Banfi, G. (2011). Effects of cold-water immersion and contrast-water therapy after training in young soccer players. J Sports Med Phys Fitness, 51(4), 609-615.
- di Fronso, S., Nakamura, F. Y., Bortoli, L., Robazza, C., & Bertollo, M. (2013). Stress and recovery balance in amateur basketball players: Differences by gender and preparation phase. International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance, 8(6), 618-622. doi:10.1123/ijspp.8.6.618.
- Delextrat, A., Calleja-González, J., Hippocrate, A., & Clarke, N. D. (2013). Effects of sports massage and intermittent cold-water immersion on recovery from matches by basketball players. Journal of Sports Sciences, 31(1), 11-19. doi:10.1080/02640414.2012.719241.
- Dill, D. B., & Costill, D. L. (1974). Calculation of percentage changes in volumes of blood, plasma, and red cells in dehydration. Journal of applied physiology, 37(2), 247-248. doi:10.1152/jappl.1974.37.2.247.
- Doeven, S. H., Brink, M. S., Kosse, S. J., & Lemmink, K. A. (2018). Postmatch recovery of physical performance and biochemical markers in team ball sports: a systematic review.
 BMJ open sport & exercise medicine, 4(1), e000264. doi:10.1136/bmjsem-2017-000264.
- Elias, G. P., Varley, M. C., Wyckelsma, V. L., McKenna, M. J., Minahan, C. L., & Aughey, R.
 J. (2012). Effects of water immersion on posttraining recovery in australian footballers.
 International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance, 7(4), 357-366.
 doi:10.1123/ijspp.7.4.357.
- Elias, G. P., Wyckelsma, V. L., Varley, M. C., McKenna, M. J., & Aughey, R. J. (2013). Effectiveness of water immersion on postmatch recovery in elite professional

footballers. International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance, 8(3), 243-253. doi:10.1123/ijspp.8.3.243.

- Elloumi, M., Maso, F., Michaux, O., Robert, A., & Lac, G. (2003). Behaviour of saliva cortisol [C], testosterone [T] and the T/C ratio during a rugby match and during the postcompetition recovery days. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 90(1-2), 23-28. doi:10.1007/s00421-003-0868-5.
- Faude, O., Roth, R., Di Giovine, D., Zahner, L., & Donath, L. (2013). Combined strength and power training in high-level amateur football during the competitive season: a randomised-controlled trial. Journal of Sports Sciences, 31(13), 1460–1467. doi:10.1080/02640414.2013.796065.
- Ferioli, D., Rampinini, E., Bosio, A., La Torre, A., Azzolini, M., & Coutts, A. J. (2018). The physical profile of adult male basketball players: Differences between competitive levels and playing positions. Journal of Sports Sciences, 36(22), 2567-2574. doi:10.1080/02640414.2018.1469241.
- Field, A., Harper, L. D., Chrismas, B. C., Fowler, P. M., McCall, A., Paul, D. J., ... & Taylor, L. (2021). The use of recovery strategies in professional soccer: a worldwide survey. International journal of sports physiology and performance, 16(12), 1804-1815. doi:10.1123/ijspp.2020-0799.
- Fiscus, K. A., Kaminski, T. W., & Powers, M. E. (2005). Changes in lower-leg blood flow during warm-, cold-, and contrast-water therapy. Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation, 86(7), 1404-1410. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2004.11.046
- Fröhlich, M., Faude, O., Klein, M., Pieter, A., Emrich, E., & Meyer, T. (2014). Strength training adaptations after cold-water immersion. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 28(9), 2628-2633. doi:10.1519/JSC.000000000000434.
- Fuchs, C. J., Smeets, J. S., Senden, J. M., Zorenc, A. H., Goessens, J. P., van Marken Lichtenbelt,
 W. D., ... & van Loon, L. J. (2020). Hot-water immersion does not increase postprandial muscle protein synthesis rates during recovery from resistance-type exercise in healthy, young males. Journal of Applied Physiology, 128(4), 1012-1022. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00836.2019.
- Fullagar, H. H., Duffield, R., Skorski, S., Coutts, A. J., Julian, R., & Meyer, T. (2015). Sleep and recovery in team sport: current sleep-related issues facing professional team-sport athletes. International journal of sports physiology and performance, 10(8), 950-957. doi:10.1123/ijspp.2014-0565.

- Garrett, J., Akyildiz, Z., Leduc, C., van den Hoek, D., Manuel Clemente, F., & Ardigò, L. P. (2021). Peak running speed can be used to monitor neuromuscular fatigue from a standardized running test in team sport athletes. Research in Sports Medicine, ahead-ofprint(ahead-of-print), 1-12. doi:10.1080/15438627.2021.1966012.
- Gastin, P. B., Meyer, D., & Robinson, D. (2013). Perceptions of wellness to monitor adaptive responses to training and competition in elite australian football. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 27(9), 2518-2526. doi:10.1519/JSC.0b013e31827fd600.
- Gill, N. D., Beaven, C. M., & Cook, C. (2006). Effectiveness of post-match recovery strategies in rugby players. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 40(3), 260-263. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2005.022483.
- Gissis, I., Papadopoulos, C., Kalapotharakos, V. I., Sotiropoulos, A., Komsis, G., & Manolopoulos, E. (2006). Strength and speed characteristics of elite, subelite, and recreational young soccer players. Research in Sports Medicine, 14(3), 205-214. doi:10.1080/15438620600854769.
- Gregson, W., Black, M. A., Jones, H., Milson, J., Morton, J., Dawson, B., Atkinson, G., & Green, D. J. (2011). Influence of cold water immersion on limb and cutaneous blood flow at rest. The American Journal of Sports Medicine, 39(6), 1316-1323. doi:10.1177/0363546510395497.
- Gryka, D., Pilch, W., Czerwińska-Ledwig, O., Piotrowska, A., Klocek, E., & Bukova, A. (2020). The influence of Finnish sauna treatments on the concentrations of nitric oxide, 3nitrotyrosine and selected markers of oxidative status in training and non-training men. International Journal of Occupational Medicine and Environmental Health, 33(2), 173-185. doi:10.13075/ijomeh.1896.01514.
- Hannuksela, M. L., & Ellahham, S. (2001). Benefits and risks of sauna bathing. The American journal of medicine, 110(2), 118-126. doi:10.1016/S0002-9343(00)00671-9.
- Hausswirth, C., Louis, J., Bieuzen, F., Pournot, H., Fournier, J., Filliard, J., & Brisswalter, J. (2011). Effects of whole-body cryotherapy vs. far-infrared vs. passive modalities on recovery from exercise-induced muscle damage in highly-trained runners. PloS One, 6(12), e27749-e27749. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0027749.
- Ivanović, J., & Dopsaj, M. (2013). Reliability of force-time curve characteristics during maximal isometric leg press in differently trained high-level athletes. Measurement, 46(7), 2146-2154. doi:10.1016/j.measurement.2013.03.008.
- Kakigi, R., Naito, H., Ogura, Y., Kobayashi, H., Saga, N., Ichinoseki-Sekine, N., Yoshihara,T., & Katamoto, S. (2011). Heat stress enhances mTOR signaling after resistance

exercise in human skeletal muscle. The Journal of Physiological Sciences, 61(2), 131-140. doi:10.1007/s12576-010-0130-y.

- Kim, K., Reid, B. A., Casey, C. A., Bender, B. E., Ro, B., Song, Q., ... & Roseguini, B. T. (2020). Effects of repeated local heat therapy on skeletal muscle structure and function in humans. Journal of Applied Physiology, 128(3), 483-492. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00701.2019.
- King, M., & Duffield, R. (2009). The effects of recovery interventions on consecutive days of intermittent sprint exercise. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 23(6), 1795-1802. doi:10.1519/JSC.0b013e3181b3f81f.
- Kirby, N. V., Lucas, S. J. E., Armstrong, O. J., Weaver, S. R., & Lucas, R. A. I. (2020;2021;). Intermittent post-exercise sauna bathing improves markers of exercise capacity in hot and temperate conditions in trained middle-distance runners. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 121(2), 621-635. doi:10.1007/s00421-020-04541-z.
- Kreher, J. B., & Schwartz, J. B. (2012). Overtraining syndrome: A practical guide. Sports Health, 4(2), 128-138. doi:10.1177/1941738111434406.
- Krüger, K., Reichel, T., & Zeilinger, C. (2019). Role of heat shock proteins 70/90 in exercise physiology and exercise immunology and their diagnostic potential in sports. Journal of Applied Physiology, 126(4), 916-927. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.01052.2018.
- Krustrup, P., Mohr, M., Ellingsgaard, H., & Bangsbo, J. (2005). Physical demands during an elite female soccer game: Importance of training status. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 37(7), 1242-1248. doi:10.1249/01.mss.0000170062.73981.94.
- Lau, S., Berg, K., Latin, R. W., & Noble, J. (2001). Comparison of active and passive recovery of blood lactate and subsequent performance of repeated work bouts in ice hockey players. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 15(3), 367-371. doi:10.1519/00124278-200108000-00019.
- Laukkanen, J. A., Laukkanen, T., & Kunutsor, S. K. (2018). Cardiovascular and other health benefits of sauna bathing: A review of the evidence. Mayo Clinic Proceedings, 93(8), 1111-1121. doi:10.1016/j.mayocp.2018.04.008.
- Leduc, C., Tee, J., Lacome, M., Weakley, J., Cheradame, J., Ramirez, C., & Jones, B. (2020). Convergent validity, reliability, and sensitivity of a running test to monitor neuromuscular fatigue. International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance, 15(8), 1067-1073. doi:10.1123/ijspp.2019-0319.

- Lee, S., Ishibashi, S., Shimomura, Y., & Katsuura, T. (2012). Physiological functions of the effects of the different bathing method on recovery from local muscle fatigue. Journal of Physiological Anthropology, 31(1), 26–26. doi:10.1186/1880-6805-31-26.
- Lythe, J., & Kilding, A. E. (2011). Physical demands and physiological responses during elite field hockey. International journal of sports medicine, 32(07), 523-528. doi:10.1055/s-0031-1273710.
- Markovic, G., Dizdar, D., Jukic, I., & Cardinale, M. (2004). Reliability and Factorial Validity of Squat and Countermovement Jump Tests. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 18(3), 551–555. doi: 10.1519/1533-4287(2004)18<551:RAFVOS>2.0.CO;2.
- Martel, G. F., Roth, S. M., Ivey, F. M., Lemmer, J. T., Tracy, B. L., Hurlbut, D. E., Metter, E. J., Hurley, B. F., & Rogers, M. A. (2006). Age and sex affect human muscle fibre adaptations to heavy-resistance strength training. Experimental Physiology, 91(2), 457–464. doi:10.1113/expphysiol.2005.032771.
- McGorm, H., Roberts, L. A., Coombes, J. S., & Peake, J. M. (2018). Turning up the heat: An evaluation of the evidence for heating to promote exercise recovery, muscle rehabilitation and adaptation. Sports Medicine (Auckland), 48(6), 1311-1328. doi:10.1007/s40279-018-0876-6.
- McGuigan, M. (2017). Monitoring training and performance in athletes. Human Kinetics.
- Meeusen, R., Duclos, M., Foster, C., Fry, A., Gleeson, M., Nieman, D., Raglin, J., Rietjens, G., Steinacker, J., Urhausen, A., European College of Sport Science, & American College of Sports Medicine. (2013). Prevention, diagnosis and treatment of the overtraining syndrome: Joint consensus statement of the european college of sport science (ECSS) and the american college of sports medicine (ACSM). European Journal of Sport Science, 13(1), 1-24. doi:10.1080/17461391.2012.730061.
- Méline, T., Solsona, R., Antonietti, J. P., Borrani, F., Candau, R., & Sanchez, A. M. (2021). Influence of post-exercise hot-water therapy on adaptations to training over 4 weeks in elite short-track speed skaters. Journal of Exercise Science & Fitness, 19(2), 134-142. doi:10.1016/j.jesf.2021.01.001.
- Mero, A., Tornberg, J., Mäntykoski, M., & Puurtinen, R. (2015). Effects of far-infrared sauna bathing on recovery from strength and endurance training sessions in men. Springerplus, 4(1), 321-321. doi:10.1186/s40064-015-1093-5.
- Merry, T. L., & Ristow, M. (2016). Do antioxidant supplements interfere with skeletal muscle adaptation to exercise training? The Journal of Physiology, 594(18), 5135–5147. doi:10.1113/JP270654.

- Monedero, J., & Donne, B. (2000). Effect of recovery interventions on lactate removal and subsequent performance. International journal of sports medicine, 21(08), 593-597. doi:10.1055/s-2000-8488.
- Montgomery, P. G., Pyne, D. B., Hopkins, W. G., Dorman, J. C., Cook, K., & Minahan, C. L. (2008). The effect of recovery strategies on physical performance and cumulative fatigue in competitive basketball. Journal of Sports Sciences, 26(11), 1135-1145. doi:10.1080/02640410802104912.
- Nédélec, M., McCall, A., Carling, C., Legall, F., Berthoin, S., & Dupont, G. (2012;2013;). Recovery in soccer: Part II—Recovery strategies. Sports Medicine (Auckland), 43(1), 9-22. doi:10.1007/s40279-012-0002-0.
- Noponen, P. V. A., Häkkinen, K., & Mero, A. A. (2015). Effects of far infrared heat on recovery in power athletes. J Athl Enhancement, 4. doi:10.4172/2324-9080.1000202.
- Nunes, J. A., Moreira, A., Crewther, B. T., Nosaka, K., Viveiros, L., & Aoki, M. S. (2014). Monitoring training load, recovery-stress state, immune-endocrine responses, and physical performance in elite female basketball players during a periodized training program. The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 28(10), 2973-2980. doi: 10.1519/JSC.000000000000499.
- Ogura, Y., Naito, H., Tsurukawa, T., Ichinoseki-Sekine, N., Saga, N., Sugiura, T., & Katamoto, S. (2007). Microwave hyperthermia treatment increases heat shock proteins in human skeletal muscle. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 41(7), 453-455. doi:10.1136/bjsm.2006.032938.
- Ostojic, S. M., Mazic, S., & Dikic, N. (2006). Profiling in basketball: physical and physiological characteristics of elite players. Journal of strength and Conditioning Research, 20(4), 740. doi:10.1519/00124278-200611000-00003.
- Ouergui, I., Hammouda, O., Chtourou, H., Gmada, N., & Franchini, E. (2014). Effects of recovery type after a kickboxing match on blood lactate and performance in anaerobic tests. Asian Journal of Sports Medicine, 5(2), 99-107.
- Perez-Quintero, M., Siquier- Coll, J., Bartolomé, I., Robles-Gil, M. C., Muñoz, D., & Maynar-Mariño, M. (2021). Three weeks of passive and intervallic heat at high temperatures (100±2 °C) in a sauna improve acclimation to external heat (42±2 °C) in untrained males. Journal of Thermal Biology, 96, 102837-102837. doi:10.1016/j.jtherbio.2021.102837.
- Périard, J. D., Racinais, S., & Sawka, M. N. (2015). Adaptations and mechanisms of human heat acclimation: Applications for competitive athletes and sports: Adaptations and

mechanisms of heat acclimation. Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports, 25, 20-38. doi:10.1111/sms.12408.

- Podstawski, R., Boryławski, K., & Boraczyáski, M. B. (2020). The physiological effects of sauna and rowing on former elite athletes with hypertension. Journal of Physical Education and Sport, 20(3), 1481-1490. doi:10.7752/jpes.2020.03204.
- Pointon, M., & Duffield, R. (2012). Cold water immersion recovery after simulated collision sport exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc, 44(2), 206-216. doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e31822b0977.
- Pokora, I., Sadowska-Krępa, E., Wolowski, Ł., Wyderka, P., Michnik, A., & Drzazga, Z. (2021). The Effect of Medium-Term Sauna-Based Heat Acclimation (MPHA) on Thermophysiological and Plasma Volume Responses to Exercise Performed under Temperate Conditions in Elite Cross-Country Skiers. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(13), 6906. doi:10.3390/ijerph18136906.
- Pournot, H., Bieuzen, F., Duffield, R., Lepretre, P. M., Cozzolino, C., & Hausswirth, C. (2011). Short term effects of various water immersions on recovery from exhaustive intermittent exercise. European journal of applied physiology, 111, 1287-1295. doi:10.1007/s00421-010-1754-6.
- Raj, I. S., Bird, S. R., & Shield, A. J. (2012). Reliability of ultrasonographic measurement of the architecture of the vastus lateralis and gastrocnemius medialis muscles in older adults: Reliability of ultrasonography. Clinical Physiology and Functional Imaging, 32(1), 65–70. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-097X.2011.01056.x.
- Ramírez-López, C., Till, K., Sawczuk, T., Giuliano, P., Peeters, A., Beasley, G., Murray, F., Pledger, S., Read, D., & Jones, B. (2020). A multi-nation examination of the fatigue and recovery time course during the inaugural under-18 six nations rugby union competition. Journal of Sports Sciences, 38(6), 644-651. doi:10.1080/02640414.2020.1722589.
- Reilly, T., Williams, A. M., Nevill, A., & Franks, A. (2000). A multidisciplinary approach to talent identification in soccer. Journal of Sports Sciences, 18(9), 695-702. doi:10.1080/02640410050120078.
- Rey, E., Lago-Peñas, C., Lago-Ballesteros, J., & Casáis, L. (2012). The effect of recovery strategies on contractile properties using tensiomyography and perceived muscle soreness in professional soccer players. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 26(11), 3081-3088. doi:10.1519/JSC.0b013e3182470d33.

- Rissanen, J., Walker, S., Pareja-Blanco, F., & Häkkinen, K. (2022). Velocity-based resistance training: do women need greater velocity loss to maximize adaptations? European Journal of Applied Physiology, 122(5), 1269–1280. doi:10.1007/s00421-022-04925-3.
- Roberts, L. A., Nosaka, K., Coombes, J. S., & Peake, J. M. (2014). Cold water immersion enhances recovery of submaximal muscle function after resistance exercise. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 307(8), R998-R1008. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00180.2014.
- Roberts, L. A., Raastad, T., Markworth, J. F., Figueiredo, V. C., Egner, I. M., Shield, A., ... & Peake, J. M. (2015). Post-exercise cold water immersion attenuates acute anabolic signalling and long-term adaptations in muscle to strength training. The Journal of physiology, 593(18), 4285-4301. doi:10.1113/JP270570.
- Rodríguez-Rosell, D., Mora-Custodio, R., Franco-Márquez, F., Yáñez-García, J. M., & González-Badillo, J. J. (2017). Traditional vs. sport-specific vertical jump tests:
 Reliability, validity, and relationship with the legs strength and sprint performance in adult and teen soccer and basketball players. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 31(1), 196-206. doi:10.1519/JSC.000000000001476.
- Ronnestad, B. R., Kvamme, N. H., Sunde, A., & Raastad, T. (2008). Short-Term Effects of Strength and Plyometric Training on Sprint and Jump Performance in Professional Soccer Players. Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research, 22(3), 773–780. doi:10.1519/JSC.0b013e31816a5e86.
- Rowell, A. E., Aughey, R. J., Hopkins, W. G., Esmaeili, A., Lazarus, B. H., & Cormack, S. J. (2018). Effects of training and competition load on neuromuscular recovery, testosterone, cortisol, and match performance during a season of professional football. Frontiers in Physiology, 9, 668-668. doi:10.3389/fphys.2018.00668.
- Rowsell, G. J., Coutts, A. J., Reaburn, P., & Hill-Haas, S. (2009). Effects of cold-water immersion on physical performance between successive matches in high-performance junior male soccer players. Journal of sports sciences, 27(6), 565-573. doi:10.1080/02640410802603855.
- Rowsell, G. J., Coutts, A. J., Reaburn, P., & Hill-Haas, S. (2011). Effect of post-match coldwater immersion on subsequent match running performance in junior soccer players during tournament play. Journal of Sports Sciences, 29(1), 1-6. doi:10.1080/02640414.2010.512640.

- Stadnyk, A. M., Rehrer, N. J., Handcock, P. J., Meredith-Jones, K. A., & Cotter, J. D. (2018). No clear benefit of muscle heating on hypertrophy and strength with resistance training. Temperature, 5(2), 175-183. doi:10.1080/23328940.2017.1391366.
- Sawka, M. N., Leon, L. R., Montain, S. J., & Sonna, L. A. (2011). Integrated physiological mechanisms of exercise performance, adaptation, and maladaptation to heat stress.
- Scanlan, A. T., Dascombe, B. J., Reaburn, P., & Dalbo, V. J. (2012). The physiological and activity demands experienced by australian female basketball players during competition. Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport, 15(4), 341-347. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2011.12.008.
- Scoon, G. S. M., Hopkins, W. G., Mayhew, S., & Cotter, J. D. (2006;2007;). Effect of postexercise sauna bathing on the endurance performance of competitive male runners. Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport, 10(4), 259-262. doi:10.1016/j.jsams.2006.06.009.
- Scott, D. J., Ditroilo, M., Orange, S. T., & Marshall, P. (2023). The effect of complex training on physical performance in rugby league players. International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance, 18(3), 240-247. doi:10.1123/ijspp.2021-0570.
- Skorski, S., Schimpchen, J., Pfeiffer, M., Ferrauti, A., Kellmann, M., & Meyer, T. (2020). Effects of Postexercise Sauna Bathing on Recovery of Swim Performance. International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance, 15(7), 1–940. doi:10.1123/ijspp.2019-0333.
- Slimani, M., & Nikolaidis, P. T. (2017). Anthropometric and physiological characteristics of male Soccer players according to their competitive level, playing position and age group: a systematic review. J Sports Med Phys Fitness, 59(1), 141-163. doi:10.23736/S0022-4707.17.07950-6.
- Stanley, J., Halliday, A., D'Auria, S., Buchheit, M., & Leicht, A. S. (2014;2015;). Effect of sauna-based heat acclimation on plasma volume and heart rate variability. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 115(4), 785-794. doi:10.1007/s00421-014-3060-1.
- Sterczala, A. J., Miller, J. D., Dimmick, H. L., Wray, M. E., Trevino, M. A., & Herda, T. J. (2020). Eight weeks of resistance training increases strength, muscle cross-sectional area and motor unit size, but does not alter firing rates in the vastus lateralis. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 120(1), 281–294. doi:10.1007/s00421-019-04273-9.
- Sugawara, J., & Tomoto, T. (2021). Acute effects of short-term warm water immersion on arterial stiffness and central hemodynamics. Frontiers in physiology, 12, 620201. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2021.620201.

- Taoutaou, Z., Granier, P., Mercier, B., Mercier, J., Ahmaidi, S., & Prefaut, C. (1996). Lactate kinetics during passive and partially active recovery in endurance and sprint athletes. European journal of applied physiology and occupational physiology, 73(5), 465-470.
- Tavares, F., Walker, O., Healey, P., Smith, T. B., & Driller, M. (2018). Practical applications of water immersion recovery modalities for team sports. Strength & Conditioning Journal, 40(4), 48-60. doi: 10.1519/SSC.00000000000380.
- Thorpe, R. T., Strudwick, A. J., Buchheit, M., Atkinson, G., Drust, B., & Gregson, W. (2016). Tracking morning fatigue status across in-season training weeks in elite soccer players. International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance, 11(7), 947-952. doi:10.1123/ijspp.2015-0490.
- Timmins, R. G., Shield, A. J., Williams, M. D., Lorenzen, C., & Opar, D. A. (2016). Architectural adaptations of muscle to training and injury: a narrative review outlining the contributions by fascicle length, pennation angle and muscle thickness. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 50(23), 1467–1472. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2015-094881.
- Touchberry, C., Le, T., Richmond, S., Prewitt, M., Beck, D., Carr, D., Vardiman, P., & Gallagher, P. (2007;2008;). Diathermy treatment increases heat shock protein expression in female, but not male skeletal muscle. European Journal of Applied Physiology, 102(3), 319-323. doi:10.1007/s00421-007-0572-y.
- Turner, A. (2011). The science and practice of periodization: A brief review. Strength and Conditioning Journal, 33(1), 34-46. doi:10.1519/SSC.0b013e3182079cdf.
- Vaile, J., Halson, S., Gill, N., & Dawson, B. (2008). Effect of hydrotherapy on the signs and symptoms of delayed onset muscle soreness. European journal of applied physiology, 102, 447-455. doi:10.1007/s00421-007-0605-6.
- Van Wyk, D. V., & Lambert, M. I. (2009). Recovery strategies implemented by sport support staff of elite rugby players in South Africa. South African journal of physiotherapy, 65(1), 41-46.
- Venter, R. E. (2012). Role of sleep in performance and recovery of athletes : a review article. South African Journal for Research in Sport, Physical Education and Recreation, 34(1), 167–184.
- Venter, R. E. (2014). Perceptions of team athletes on the importance of recovery modalities.
 European Journal of Sport Science, 14(sup1), S69-S76. doi:10.1080/17461391.2011.643924.

- Venter, R. E., Potgieter, J. R., & Barnard, J. G. (2010). The use of recovery modalities by elite south african team athletes. South African Journal for Research in Sport, Physical Education and Recreation, 32(1), 133-145. doi:10.4314/sajrs.v32i1.54106.
- Versey, N. G., Halson, S. L., & Dawson, B. T. (2013). Water immersion recovery for athletes: Effect on exercise performance and practical recommendations. Sports Medicine (Auckland), 43(11), 1101-1130. doi:10.1007/s40279-013-0063-8.
- Viitasalo J T, Niemelä K, Kaappola R, et al. Warm underwater water-jet massage improves recovery from intense physical exercise[J]. European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology, 1995, 71: 431-438. doi:10.1007/BF00635877.
- Wehbe, G., Gabett, T. J., Dwyer, D., McLellan, C., & Coad, S. (2015). Monitoring neuromuscular fatigue in team-sport athletes using a cycle-ergometer test. International Journal of Sports Physiology and Performance, 10(3), 292-297. doi:10.1123/ijspp.2014-0217.
- Weltman, A. R. T. H. U. R., Stamford, B. A., & Fulco, C. H. A. R. L. E. S. (1979). Recovery from maximal effort exercise: lactate disappearance and subsequent performance. Journal of Applied Physiology, 47(4), 677-682. doi: 10.1152/jappl.1979.47.4.677.
- White, G. E., & Wells, G. D. (2013). Cold-water immersion and other forms of cryotherapy: Physiological changes potentially affecting recovery from high-intensity exercise. Extreme Physiology & Medicine, 2(1), 26-26. doi:10.1186/2046-7648-2-26.
- Wiewelhove, T., Raeder, C., Meyer, T., Kellmann, M., Pfeiffer, M., & Ferrauti, A. (2015). Markers for routine assessment of fatigue and recovery in male and female team sport athletes during high-intensity interval training. PloS One, 10(10), e0139801-e0139801. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0139801.
- Zurawlew, M. J., Walsh, N. P., Fortes, M. B., & Potter, C. (2016). Post-exercise hot water immersion induces heat acclimation and improves endurance exercise performance in the heat. Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports, 26(7), 745-754. doi:10.1111/sms.12638.
- Zurawlew, M. J., Mee, J. A., & Walsh, N. P. (2018). Post-exercise hot water immersion elicits heat acclimation adaptations in endurance trained and recreationally active individuals. Frontiers in Physiology, 9, 1824-1824. doi:10.3389/fphys.2018.01824.
- Zurawlew, M. J., Mee, J. A., & Walsh, N. P. (2019). Post-exercise hot water immersion elicits heat acclimation adaptations that are retained for at least two weeks. Frontiers in Physiology, 10, 1080-1080. doi:10.3389/fphys.2019.01080

APPENDIX

Ap	pendix	1.	Exam	ples (of 1	training	programme
r	P						P- 08

Session	Exercise	Sets	Rep	Load	Recovery time
	1.1 Trap bar deadlift	3	4	75-80%	2min
	3.1 Bench press	3	4	75-80%	2min
1	2.1 Forward lunges	3	4	75-80%	2min
1	2.2 Hop run	3	6+6		
	1.2 10m resisted sprints	3	4		2min
	3.2 Chess pass	3	6	3kg	2min
	1.1 Split squat	3	4	75-80%	2min
	1.02 Drop jump	3	4		2min
2	2.1 Hip thrust	3	4	75-80%	2min
2	2.2 Horizontal jumps	3	4		
	3.1 Military press	3	4	75-80%	2min
	3.2 3 Landmine rotational press	3	6	75-80%	2min